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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 04 DECEMBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Chaska lson,  good 

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Morn ing  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  we ready?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   We are  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing  Mr  Ho lden.   Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Cha i r  I  wonder  on  my way in  th is  

morn ing  I  saw some d isconcer t ing  banner  head l ines and I  

wonder  i f  we might  jus t  c la r i f y  what  seems to  be  a  10 

misunders tand ing  in  the  pub l i c  eye .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Because  the  banner  head l ine  say 

R800 mi l l ion  s to len  –  how R800  mi l l ion  was s to len  o r  

someth ing  l i ke  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   So  i f  we can –  can I  jus t  c la r i f y  

what  Mr  Ho lden was R800 mi l l ion  o f  pub l i c  funds s to len  

f rom Est ina  Da i ry?  

MR HOLDEN:   No  i t  was not .  20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   How much in  pub l i c  funds went  

in to  Est ina  Da i ry  in  to ta l?  

MR HOLDEN:   I t  was R280 mi l l ion .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Indeed.   And what  does the  R800  

mi l l ion  re fer  to?  
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MR HOLDEN:   The R800 mi l l ion  re fers  to  the  aggregate  

depos i ts  tha t  i s  a l l  o f  the  depos i ts  tha t  have taken p lace 

in to  the  Est ina  account  and the  impor tance o f  the  f igure  i s  

tha t  we can show tha t  a l l  o f  the  t ransfer  tha t  const i tu ted  

tha t  R800 000 the  vast  ma jor i t y  were  drawn f rom the  

or ig ina l  R280 mi l l ion  depos i ted  by  the  Free  S ta te  

Government .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   So  tha t  R280 mi l l ion  wen t  in  over  

t ime in to  the  Est ina  account  and then par t s  o f  i t  were  taken 

out  and then c i r cu la ted  w i th in  the  Gupta  Enterpr i se  and  10 

then put  back in  so  tha t  i t  looked l i ke  ins tead o f  a  to ta l  o f  

R280 mi l l ion  be ing  depos i ted  in  there  as  R800  mi l l ion  

depos i t ing  –  depos i ted  in?  

MR HOLDEN:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Bu t  the  to ta l  amount  o f  pub l i c  

funds was R280 mi l l ion?  

MR HOLDEN:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay thank you.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Cha i r  when we ad jou rned  20 

yesterday we had  reached the  end o f  par t  3  o f  t ranche 0  on  

the  d iagrams and I  ind ica ted  tha t  to  speed th ings up  we  

wou ld  no t  be  look ing  a t  eve ry  s ing le  t ransact ion  we wou ld  

jus t  tak ing  a  fa i r l y  h igh  leve l  overv iew o f  the  movement  o f  

money.   And so  i f  I  can  ask  Mr  Ho lden to  go  back to  the  b ig  
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overv iew o f  t ranche 0  wh ich  is  a t  page 672? 

MR HOLDEN:   Cer ta in l y  and jus t  to  cor rec t  you.   We d id  

no t  ac tua l l y  comp le te  par t  3 .   We reached s tep  5  o f  … 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   S tep  5  –  s tep  5  o f  par t  3 .  

MR HOLDEN:   O f  7 .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Sor ry  s tep?  

MR HOLDEN:   S tep  5  o f  7 .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   S tep  5  o f  7?   Okay we l l  we –  we  

can go back to  par t  3  jus t  to  –  on  the  b ig  p i c tu re  to  –  to  

f in ish  i t  o f f  bu t  i f  we go to  page 672.   To  or ien t  the  Cha i r  10 

fo r  where  we w i l l  be  go ing  fo rward  672 i s  a  h igh  leve l  

overv iew o f  t ranche 0 .   We have done pa r t  1  can you 

h igh l igh t  par t  1  on  the  screen?  Or  maybe i t  i s  eas ie r  to  

re fe r  to  i t  by  your  code.   What  –  what  do  the  b lack  ar rows  

re f lec t?  

MR HOLDEN:   Cer ta in ly.   The b lack  ar rows re f lec t  the  

in te rna l  South  A f r i can based accounts  tha t  i s  par t  1  o f  

t ranche 0 .   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And then  the  red  ar rows?  

MR HOLDEN:   The –  I  do  no t  th ink  we to  the  red  ar rows.   20 

We have the  p ink  ar rows wh ich  is  par t  2  over  here .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Sor ry  I  have some co lour  read ing  

issues.   The p ink  ar rows are  par t  2  okay.   And the  green  

ar rows?  

MR HOLDEN:   The green ar rows are  par t  3  and i t  –  i t  i s  a  
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l i t t l e  b i t  compl ica ted  to  t race  but  i t  goes –  so  –  so  as  … 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I  am a f ra id  fo r  the  purposes o f  

the  record  because we a l l  go ing  to  come back to  read a  

t ranscr ip t  you go ing  to  have to  descr ibe  what  you mean by 

and so  and so  because we w i l l  no t  see the  v ideo.  

MR HOLDEN:   Oh dear.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   The v ideo a t  the  same t ime.  

MR HOLDEN:   Okay.   The green a r rows re fe r  to  pa r t  3  as  I  

ca l l  i t  o f  the  –  o f  Tranche 0  wh ich  is  dea ls  w i th  the  

d iss ipa t ion  o f  $400 000.00 f rom Gateway L im i ted  th rough 10 

to  a  number  o f  d i f fe ren t  accounts .   We have a  movement  

down on the  23  September  2013 o f  $400 000.00 in to  G loba l  

Corpora t ions,  S tandard  Char te red,  Duba i  Vest ,  US Do l la r  

accounts .   That  is  then –  takes a  downward  le f tward  loop  

fu r ther  down in to  G loba l  Corpora t ions,  Bank o f  Abu  Dhab i .   

Durham based account  on  the  same day i f  I  may jus t  zoom 

in .   That  amount  then goes up and tha t  i s  a  1 .7  m i l l ion 

D i rham cash w i thdrawal  on  the  24 t h  and there  is  two  

s t reams tha t  f low f rom tha t  cash w i thdrawal .   The f i rs t  

s t ream which  I  w i l l  focus on  he re  is  a  t ransfer  tha t  we 20 

spoke about  yes terday tha t  goes f rom the  cash a l l  the  way 

to  the  r igh t  and then takes an  upward  t ra jec to ry  and then  

aga in  le f t  and tha t  i s  the  367 245.00 Durham which  we  

suspect  went  to  Hawala  cu r rency exchanges.   The  

 The second s t ream o f  cash 1 .3  m i l l ion  Durham is  
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t ransfer red  a lso  on  the  24 t h  i t  goes to  the  r i gh t  and  then up  

and then to  the  le f t  aga in  to  en ter  in to G loba l  

Corpora t ions,  Bank o f  Baroda,  Duba i  based Durham 

account .   Of  tha t  amount  immedia te ly  a f te r  i t  i s  rece ived 

$100 000.00 do l la rs  wh ich  is  equa l  to  367 450.00 Durham 

is  then pa id  in to  F ide l i t y  Enterpr i ses  Bank o f  Baroda Duba i  

based US Do l la r  account .    

 I t  –  a t  th is  po in t  i t  co-ming les  w i th  the  who le  ser ies  

o f  o ther  par t s  o f  th is  t ranche to  fund a  t ransfer  tha t  moves  

downwards to  the  le f t  o f  $900 000.00 tha t  i s  made to  10 

Oakbay Investments ,  Bank o f  Baroda Johannesburg  

account  024/034 and I  w i l l  exp la in  exact ly  how tha t  amount  

i s  funded very  shor t l y.  

 The remainder  o f  the  cash par t  o f  i t  has  been  

depos i ted  368 750.00 Durham is  t ransfe r red  on the  7 

October  and i t  goes upwards to  the  le f t  and i t  i s  says Cash 

g iven to  Vikus in  the  ledger.   I  suspect  tha t  th is  was most  

l i ke ly  an  employee o f  the  Gupta  Enterpr i se  ca l led  Vikus  

Chaturved i .   And Vikus Chatu rved i  was an employee who  

was based in  Ind ia  who is  respons ib le  fo r  amongst  o ther  20 

th ings log is t i ca l  exe rc i ses  fo r  the  Gupta  Enterp r ise  

organ is ing  v isas  and p lane t i cke ts  and so r t  o f  odd job  

du t ies  on  the  ground.  

 I f  I  may re turn?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   P lease do.  
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MR HOLDEN:   To  the  way in  wh ich  the  900 000 wh ich  I  am 

ind ica t ing  here .   I  am go ing  to  t r y  and zoom in  to  make i t  a  

b i t  c learer.   Th is  $900 000.00 t ransfe r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  what  page is  tha t  –  tha t  

d iag ram? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   That  i s  672 wh ich  is  the  b ig  

overv iew o f  par t  1 .   I f  –  to  look  a t  i t  in  c loser  de ta i l  –  so r ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No my 672 [ ta lk ing  ove r  one another ]  red .   

That  one has th ree  reds.   Mine does not .   My 672 does not  

have th ree  red  dest ina t ions as  –  my 672.  10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   671 I  am sor ry  Cha i r.  671.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   671.  

MR HOLDEN:   Okay,  okay a l r i gh t .   Okay.    

MR HOLDEN:   So  to  re turn  th is  $900 000.00 t ransfer  tha t  

i s  pa id  f rom Fide l i t y  Enterpr i ses Bank o f  Baroda account  

in to  Oakbay Investments  tha t  i s  funded f rom three d i f fe ren t  

sources o f  funds.  

 $100 000.00 o f  tha t  we have jus t  descr ibed and tha t  

comes f rom the  or ig ina l  $400 000 .00 depos i t  tha t  s ta r ted  20 

par t  3  o f  t ranche  0 .   R750 000.00  o f  tha t  i s  d rawn  f rom a  

payment  in  here  wh ich  i s  ac tua l l y  one  o f  the  few t imes  we 

see a  t ransfe r  in  f rom an outs ide  source  in  re la t ion  to  

Est ina  and i t  i s  an  amount  o f  $754  755.46 penn ies  and tha t  

was a lso  t ransfer red  on the  24  September  2013 in to  
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G loba l ’s  Bank o f  Baroda Duba i  based US Do l la r  accounts  

and i t  i s  re f lec ted  on the  spread  sheet  as  JJT.   We wi l l  

exp lo re  in  qu i te  a  b i t  more  de ta i l  in  fu r ther  sess ions the  

exact  ident i f y  o f  JJT su f f i ce  the  no te  here  tha t  JJT was  

who l ly  owned by  the  Wor lds  Window Group and was  one o f  

the  en t i t ies  tha t  en tered in to  a  se r ies  o f  k ickback 

agreements  re la t i ng  to  the  Transne t  F low o f  Funds.  

 I  cannot  de f in i t i ve ly  s ta te  a t  th is  po in t  based on the  

documents  ava i l ab le  to  me tha t  th is  750 000 def in i te ly  

der i ved f rom the  Transnet  payments  because a t  the  same 10 

t ime as  those payments  were  be ing  made to  JJT and  

onwards on to  the  Gupta  Ente rpr ise  they were  a lso  

under tak ing  a  who le  ser ies  o f  o ther  t ransact ions  a t  the 

same t ime around  money launder ing .  

 So unfor tunate l y  we cannot  say  de f in i t i ve ly  tha t  th is  

i s  f rom the  Transnet  cont rac t s  bu t  we do know def in i t i ve ly  

tha t  i t  i s  f rom JJT.  

 That  i s  then –  in  th is  account  when we move to  a  

fu r ther  –  fu r ther  par t  4  t here  i s  $50 000.00 tha t  remains  in  

the  G loba l  Corpora t ion  Bank o f  Baroda Duba i  account  20 

wh ich  b r ings the  ba lance to  $800 000.00 once the  JJT 

amount  has been pa id  in .   And tha t  $800 000.00  is  then 

t ransfer red  to  F ide l i t y  Enterp r ises  to  jo in  the  100 000.00  

tha t  had been pa id  in  by  G loba l  Corpora t ion  and  tha t  i s  

then pa id  onwards as  the  $900 000.00 to  Oakbay  
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Investments .  

 So cor rec t l y  speak ing  we can say tha t  f rom t ranche  

0  funds tha t  were  pa id  in  by  the  Free S ta te  government  o f  

the  $900 000.00 tha t  i s  pa id  to  Oakbay Investments  he re  

we see 100 000.00 f rom h is  par t  –  f rom par t  3 ,  50  000.00 

f rom par t  4  and as  I  w i l l  desc r ibe  i n  a  l i t t le  b i t  more  de ta i l  

la te r  100 000.00 f rom par t  5  –  f rom par t  5  and a  cer ta in  

amount  f rom t ranche 2  as  we l l .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Can you then aga in  ve ry  qu i ck l y  

bu t  so  tha t  peop le  can fo l low what  you are  do ing  a l so  10 

zooming in  –  can  you take  the  Cha i r  th rough t ranche 0  par t  

4?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Cer ta in l y.   So t ranche 0  par t  4  i s  

the  b lue  l ines  on  the  d iagram and  tha t  i s  in i t ia ted  the  day  

a f te r  the  $3  mi l l ion  i s  t ransfe r red  in to  Gateway L im i ted  

S tandard  Char te red account .   $1  m i l l ion  i s  t ransfe r red  f rom 

Gateway L im i ted  to  Standard  Char te r  US Do l la r  account  

and moves down on the  d iag ram to  G loba l  Corpora t ions,  

S tandard  Char te red US Do l la r  account .   Of  tha t  750 000.00 

Durham which  is  equa l  to  rough ly  $200 000.00  is  then  20 

t ransfer red  down on the  8  September  2013 in to  G loba l  

Corpora t ions S tandard  Char te red  Durham based account .   

On the  same day tha t  amount  i s  then w i thdrawn in  cash  

wh ich  we can see  go ing  down.   On the  –  aga in  on  the  same 

day the  750 000.00 Durham in  cash is  the  pa id  in to  G loba l  
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Corpora t ions Bank o f  Abu Dhab i  Durham based account  

and then aga in  on  the  same day $200 000.00  is  then 

t ransfer red  on the  8  September  2013 in to  a  ledger  en t ry  

tha t  jus t  says Sh ivan i  –  Ash la  Gupta  and as  we descr ibed 

ear l ie r  tha t  i s  the  w i fe  and the  s is te r  o f  the  Gupta  b ro the rs .  

 So 200 000.00 he re  is  s l igh t l y  less  than 750 000.00  

Durham.   The remainder  o f  tha t  $1  m i l l ion  … 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Be fore  you move o f f  there  can  

you jus t  ind i ca te  to  the  Cha i r  how we see anothe r  cash f i re  

b reak here?  10 

MR HOLDEN:   Abso lu te ly.   So as  we have seen in  the 

prev ious t ranche a t  th is  po in t  here  wh ich  I  am h igh l igh t ing  

on  the  screen you see the  750 000.00 Durham wi thdrawn in  

cash.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Wel l  can you go even h igher  up  

because i t  i s  the  same ent i t y  a l l  the  way th rough.  

MR HOLDEN:   Abso lu te ly.   I t  i s  G loba l  Corpora t ion  wh ich  i s  

rece iv ing  the  funds and as  we can see w i th  the  th i rd  pa r t  

tha t  was t ransfer red  in to  G loba l  Corpora t ions Bank  o f  Abu 

Dhab i  to  then fac i l i ta te  the  f i re  b reak.   In  th is  case the  20 

750 000.00 Durham is  t ransfer red  to  a  S tandard  Char te red 

Account  owned by  G loba l  then w i thdrawn in  cash and then  

t ransfer red  fu r ther  on to  G loba l  Corpora t ions Bank  o f  Abu 

Dhab i  account .   So w i thout  access to  –  i f  you were  

S tandard  Char te red fo r  example  and you were  look ing  a t  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 12 of 130 
 

th is  funds f low you wou ld  on ly  see tha t  750 000.00 Durham 

in  cash has been w i thd rawn.   You wou ld  have no idea 

where  tha t  750 000.00 Durham went  to .   You wou ld  need in  

o rder  to  t race  th is  the  bank  s ta tements  fo r  G loba l  

Corpora t ions accounts  across a l l  o f  the i r  banks tha t  they  

ho ld  so  tha t  obv ious ly  makes i t  very  d i f f i cu l t  fo r  compl iance  

depar tments  fo r  example  fo r  banks to  p ick  tha t  up .  

 Sha l l  I  descr ibe  the  remainder  o f  tha t  –  tha t  par t?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   P lease do –  p lease do.  

MR HOLDEN:   Okay.   So o f  1  m i l l i on  tha t  i s  t ransfer red  on 10 

the  5  September  2013 700 000.00 o f  tha t  is  then  

t ransfer red  upwards to  the  r i gh t  on  the  –  tha t  i s  two days  

a f te r  the  payment  i s  rece ived.   R700 000.00 on the  7  

September  ge ts  pa id  in to  G loba l  Corpora t ion  Bank o f  

Baroda Duba i  based US Do l la r  accounts .  

 Of  tha t  amount  $145 000.00 is  t ransfer red  in to  

F ide l i t y  Ente rpr i ses  Bank o f  Baroda Duba i  based US Do l la r  

account  wh ich  moves sor t  o f  [00 :15 :43]  to  the  r igh t .   And 

then f ina l l y  the  fo l low ing day.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Sor ry  jus t  aga in  fo r  the  record  20 

purposes to  emphas ise  on  par t  4  o f  t ranche 0  we are  

look ing  a t  b lue  ar rows?  

MR HOLDEN:   That  i s  cor rec t  b lue  ar rows.   And then  f ina l l y  

w i th  th is  s t ream we see on the  fo l low ing day on  the  9  

September  $142 000.00 wh ich  is  t ransfer red  to  an  en t i t y  
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tha t  i s  recorded in  the  ledgers  as  Bat ia  Share  Purchase.   

We do not  –  we  cannot  –  as  we cannot  see the  exact  

rec ip ien t  account  number  I  cannot  conf i rm exact ly  what  

Bat ia  tha t  re fe rs  to  bu t  i t  i s  wor th  no th ing  tha t  in  the  Gupta  

Leaks f i les  there  is  qu i te  an  ex tens i ve  se t  o f  

cor respondence ind ica t ing  a  Jo in t  Venture  was ente red in to  

be tween a  cer ta in  Gupta  Enterp r ise  Companies  and an  

Ind ian  based coa l  p roducer  by  the  name o f  Bhat ia  Coa l  and 

I  wou ld  s t rong ly  suspect  tha t  th is  re fe rs  to  a  purchase o f  

Bhat ia  shares in  Ind ia .  10 

 And then f ina l l y  to  c lose  out  th is  b lue  l ine  par t  the  

remainder  o f  the  700 000.00 tha t  had been t ransfe r red  on 

the  7  September  the  –  o f  tha t  $504 087.00 wh ich  equa ls  

1 .85  mi l l ion  Durham is  t ransfer red  to  the  r igh t  on  the  

d iag ram on the  7 /9 /2013.   I t  reached Globa l  Corpora t ions  

Bank o f  Baroda  Duba i  based –  Duba i  based  Durham 

account  and on the  same day we see an ent ry  o f  tha t  1 .85  

mi l l ion  Durham be ing  t ransfer red  to  –  to  the  Nad i  Exchange  

fo r  Hawala  and tha t  c loses tha t  ou t .   So w i th  –  w i th  par t s  3  

and 4  conc luded we can see the  to ta l  amount  o f  t ranche 1  20 

funds –  t ranche  0  funds I  shou ld  say tha t  went  to  the  

Hawala  exchange was 2  614 500.00 Durham and the 

amount  tha t  was g iven in  cash to  the  Vikus Chaturved i  was 

368 750.00 Durham.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And then i f  you cou ld  f in ish  o f f  
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t ranche 0  w i th  the  f i f th  and las t  s t ream? 

MR HOLDEN:   Cer ta in ly.   So t ranche 0  i s  h igh l igh ted  on  

the  d iag ram in  red  and the re  a re  two unfor tunate ly  two 

s t reams invo lved here .    

 The f i rs t  s t ream is  a  payment  shor t l y  a f te r  Gateway  

L im i ted  rece ives  i t s  funds f rom Est ina .   I t  i s  pa id  f rom 

Gateway L im i ted  S tandard  Char te red US Do l la r  account  

in to  Accura te  Investments  L im i ted  S tandard  Char te red 

Duba i  based US Do l la r  account .  

 And then immedia te ly  thereaf te r  $1 .347 mi l l ion  i s  10 

t ransfer red  to  L inkway Trad ings S ta te  Bank o f  Ind ia 

Johannesburg  account .    

 I  a t tempted to  conf i rm the  exact  rand amount  tha t  

tha t  wou ld  equa l  to  bu t  the  t rea tment  o f  th i s  depos i t  in  

L inkway ’s  S ta te  Bank o f  Ind ia  account  was s l igh t ly  s t range.   

I t  does not  re f lec t  the  fu l l  amount  coming in  bu t  on ly  a  

por t ion  o f  i t  and i t  re fe rs  to  i t  as  t ransfer red  f rom ZA –  

t ransfer red  to  ZAR accounts  wh ich  wou ld  make me be l ieve  

tha t  e i ther  L inkway Trad ing  the  S ta te  Bank o f  Ind ia  

rece ived the  depos i t  in to  a  US Do l la r  denominated account  20 

and d iscoursed a  por t ion  o f  i t  in to the  L inkway Trad ing  fo r  

tha t  –  I  d id  then check the  h is to r i ca l  exchange ra te  on  tha t  

day and i t  was a lmost  exact ly  R10.00 to  the  do l la r  so  the  

to ta l  amount  tha t  was t ransfe r red  was rough ly  R13.47 

mi l l ion  to  L inkway Trad ing .   And then as  the  f ina l  s t ream o f  
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the  1 .4  m i l l ion  tha t  was pa id  on  the  9  September  there  was 

50 000.00 tha t  remained in  Accura te  Investment  account .  

Th is  was then t ransfer red  over  on  the  23  September  2013  

in to  F ide l i t y  Ente rpr ises  S tandard  Char te red Duba i  based  

US Do l la r  account  wh ich  i t  moves to  the  r igh t  here .   I t  i s  

jo ined by  a  t ransfer  tha t  had to  be  made f i ve  days p rev ious 

f rom Gateway L im i ted  S tandard  Char te red US Do l la r  

account  in to  F ide l i t y  Enterpr ises  S tandard  Char te red Duba i  

based US Do l la r  account  o f  50  000.00.   And then tha t  same 

day we see a  t ransfer  o f  $3 .1  m i l l i on  f rom Fide l i t y  10 

Enterp r ises  S tandard  Char te red Duba i  based US  Do l la r  

account  in to  Oakbay Investments  Bank o f  Baroda  

Johannesburg  account .   Of  tha t  $3 .1  m i l l ion  we can 

def in i t i ve ly  t race  100 000.00 to  t ranche 0  and the  

remainder  3  m i l l ion  to  t ranche 2 .   So i f  we look  a t  the  

bo t tom here  we can see aga in  a  cor respond ing  end po in t  

the  f ina l  ra i lway  s ta t ion  s top  the  ex i t  po in t  fo r  L inkway  

Trad ing  i n  th is  t ranche but  th is  t ranche they earned  $1.347 

mi l l ion  and Oakbay Investments  i s  pa id  fo rmer l y  in  do l la rs  

a t  th is  t ime o f  wh ich  $250 000.00  is  sourced f rom t ranche  20 

0 .   And tha t  conc ludes the  sect ion .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Thank  you.   Thank you Mr  

Ho lden.   I t  i s  qu i te  a  s tagger ing  exerc i se  th is  and we are  

about  to  ge t  to  the  wors t  o f  the  lo t  wh ich  is  t ranche  1 .   So 

can I  –  can I  ask  you to  –  to  go  to  page 692.   And there  we  
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see  an overv iew o f  t ranche 1  and can you te l l  the  Cha i r  

how th is  –  how you have broken  up th is  t ranche  fo r  the  

purposes o f  you r  ana lys is  and what  a r rows mean what  in  

te rms o f  d i f fe ren t  sec t ions o f  the  –  o f  the  ana lys is?  

MR HOLDEN:   Cer ta in ly.   But  be fore  I  do  so  i t  m igh t  be  

wor thwhi le  exp la in ing  some o f  the  reason ing  beh ind  the  

way in  wh ich  th is  t ranche opera ted .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Abso lu te ly.  

MR HOLDEN:   So  as  we saw wi th  t ranche 0  we had money  

coming in  f rom the  Free S ta te  government  and immedia te l y  10 

be ing  put  in to  a  f i xed  depos i t  account  and be ing  le f t  

un touched fo r  a  per iod  o f  t ime fo r  over  a  year.  

 But  as  2012 wore  on  Est ina  s ta r ted  hav ing  to  

deve lop  and de l i ver  a  da i ry  fa rm in  wh ich  case they s ta r ted  

incu r r ing  ce r ta in  costs .    

 In  o rde r  to  f inance those costs  as  the  fo l low ing 

payment  f rom the  Free S ta te  government  the  t ranche 1  

payment  was on ly  go ing  to  be  made in  2013 – 18  Apr i l  

2013.    

 The –  Est ina  took ou t  a  ser ies  o f  we l l  Kama l  20 

Vashram I  shou ld  say th is  took on  a  ser ies  o f  loans f rom 

Oakbay Investments  and Aerohaven Trad ing  wh ich  were  

immedia te ly  on  pa id  to  Est ina  and used fo r  var ious costs  

and  they were  u l t imate ly  se t t led  once the  t ranche 1  funds  

came in  f rom the  Free S ta te  government .  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 17 of 130 
 

 And then tu rn ing  to  the  d iagram i t  i s  I  am fu l l y  

aware  tha t  in  th i s  fo rmat  i t  i s  a lmost  i l l eg ib le  bu t  i t  does  

g ive  you a  good sense o f  the  ex ten t  o f  the  complex i t y  o f  

the  sect ion .  

 As  w i th  the  p rev ious d iagram the  s ta r t  po in t  o f  

money enter ing  in to  the  –  the  money f lows is  the  green box 

o f  the  Free S ta te  government  wh ich  is  r igh t  a t  the  bo t tom.   

And then we have  a  ser ies  o f  red… 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Sor ry  wh i le  we a t  the  green box  

can you jus t  c la r i f y  tha t  the  –  tha t  i t  was not  R34.95 .  10 

MR HOLDEN:   I t  was 34.95 mi l l ion  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  there  shou ld  be  an M the re .  

MR HOLDEN:   Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR HOLDEN:   And then we have  obv ious ly  the  red  boxes  

wh ich  aga in  are  the  f ina l  s tepp ing  o f f  po in t  on  the  journey.   

And we have a  coup le  here  and  over  here .   The ye l low 

boxes are  aga in  or  anyth ing  tha t  is  co lour  coded in  ye l low  

is  a  –  a  s top  a long the  way to  a  f ina l  dest ina t ion  add ing  

s l igh t ly  more  complex i t y  to  the  –  the  ye l low.   Every  loan 20 

account  tha t  i s  t aken out  i s  ind i ca ted  as  a  c i r c le .   And 

every  f i xed  depos i t  account  i s  des ignated by  th is  pa r t i cu la r  

rhombus.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  I  m issed the  pa r t  about  the  

c i rc le .  
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MR HOLDEN:   So  the  –  the  f i xed  depos i t  accounts  a re  

rep resented by  th is  –  th is  rhombus here  sor t  o f  l i ke  a  

s l igh t ly  skew squ igg ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay,  okay.  

MR HOLDEN:   Ja .   Obv ious l y  jus t  to  d is t ingu ish  i t  f rom the  

o ther  squares,  rec tang les  on  the  page.   And then in  te rms  

o f  the  co lour  cod ing .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Sor ry  Mr  Ho lden can you  jus t  go  

and c la r i f y  what  you sa id  about  the  loan accounts  as  we l l?  

MR HOLDEN:   Yes so  the  loan accounts  a re  c i rc les  –  are  10 

ind ica ted  as  c i r c les  on  the  d iagram.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  whenever  I  see a  c i rc le  I  mus t  know 

tha t  i s  a  loan account?  

MR HOLDEN:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR HOLDEN:   And whenever  you  see the  skew square  the  

rhombus here  you w i l l  know tha t  i s  a  f i xed  depos i t  account .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

MR HOLDEN:   And then anyth ing  e lse  tha t  i s  a  square  and 

ye l low is  a  s top  o f f  po in t  tha t  i s  a  cur ren t  account  o r  a  20 

sav ing  accounts  o f  some k ind .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  okay.  

MR HOLDEN:   Then there  a re  four  –  I  b roke th is  t ranche 

down in to  four  d i f fe ren t  se t s  o f  fund f lows.   The f i rs t  par t  i s  

ind ica ted  by  green ar rows,  the  second par t  i s  ind ica ted  by  
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purp le  ar rows,  the  th i rd  pa r t  i s  ind ica ted  by  b lue  ar rows  

and the  f ina l  par t  i s  ind ica ted  by  an  orangey red  co lou r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:  Because  th is  t ranche is  so  dense 

I  th ink  i t  may be s imp le r  when we –  when we run  th rough i t  

to  do  i t  by  the  par t  d iagrams ra ther  than the  overv iew 

d iag ram because there  is  so  much on the  overv iew 

d iag ram.   So can  I  ask  you to  go  to  par t  1  on  page 693?  

And take us  th rough what  you desc r ib ing  in  par t  1?  

MR HOLDEN:   Cer ta in ly  so  what  we see he re  Cha i r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I  am sor ry  m ight  I  ask  tha t  every  10 

now and then where  you see a  fa i r l y  obv ious  money 

launder ing  dev i ce  be ing  employed maybe to  f lag  i t .  

MR HOLDEN:   Abso lu te ly.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Maybe not  every  t ime because  

tha t  may take  too  long.  

MR HOLDEN:   Cer ta in ly.   So th is  par t  i s  ac tua l l y  en t i re ly  a  

–  a  money launder ing  exe rc i se  to  an  ex ten t .   I t  i s  –  i f  you  

look a t  the  overv iew d iag ram on the  le f t  hand s ide  the  f i rs t  

la rge  ye l low box wh ich  is  a  l i t t le  b i t  down here  is  the  loan  

tha t  i s  g ran ted by  Oakbay to  Kamal  Vashram which  i s  20 

eventua l l y  se t t led  w i th  the  money tha t  i s  pa id  in  by  the  

Free S ta te  government .   So what  we are  see ing  he re  in  a 

very  compl ica ted  fo rm is  a  c i r cu la r  movement  o f  funds –  I  

w i l l  go  ou t  a  l i t t le  b i t  fu r ther  i f  I  can .   C i rc le  movement  o f  

funds wh ich  e f fec t i ve l y  se t t les  a  loan back loop.   Th i s  i s  
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what  i s  known as a  loan back.   I f  I  go  to… 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And the  loan back is  se t t led  w i th  

pub l i c  funds?  

MR HOLDEN:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Not  w i th  Gupta  Enterp r ises  

funds.  

MR HOLDEN:   That  i s  cor rec t .   So none o f  the  funds tha t  

a re  t ransfe r red  f rom Oakbay to  Kamal  Vashram a re  ac tua l l y  

ever  fu l l y  de r ived f rom Oakbay Investments  i t  i s  jus t  an  

advance on the  Free S ta te  government ’s  t ranche payment  10 

and i t  i s  repa id  in  fu l l  by  the  Free S ta te  government  funds.  

 I  have b roken jus t  down in to  s teps as  we l l  wh ich  

m ight  be  a  l i t t le  b i t  eas ie r  to… 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I f  you  want  to  take  i t  s tep  by  s tep  

by  a l l  means do.  

MR HOLDEN:   And –  so  th i s  wou ld  be  I  am not  qu i te  sure  

what  the  –  i t  wou ld  be  the  fo l low ing  page in  the… 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   694.  

MR HOLDEN:   694.   So the  f i rs t  s tep  he re  is  tha t  Oakbay  

t ransfers  i t s  loan  wh ich  I  pu t  in  inver ted  commas to  Kamal  20 

Vashram’s  Bank o f  Baroda and S tandard  Bank accounts .   

In  th is  s l ide  we see the  l oan payments  made over  a  per iod  

f rom the  –  I  am t ry ing  to  f ind  the  ear l ies t  payment .   I  th ink  

i t  i s  the  9  November  2012 and the  la tes t  payment  i s  the  18  

Apr i l  2013 and in  to ta l  a l l  o f  those payments  to ta l  R6.342 
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m i l l i on .   And as  we can see he re  these amounts  are  as  we 

sc ro l l  ove r  to  the  fo l low ing s l ide .  So here  is  Oakbay ’s  loan 

and here  are  a l l  the  t ransact ions  be ing  pa id  in to  Kamal  

Vashram’s  accounts .    

 The f i rs t  one up here  is  h is  Bank o f  Baroda accoun t  

and the  one down here  is  the  S tandard  Bank accounts  and  

i f  you scro l l  over  to  the  fo l low ing s tep  we see tha t  Kamal  

Vashram t ransfers  immedia te l y  the  day he  rece ives the  

loans f rom Oakbay he pays them d i rec t l y  in to  Est ina  

S tandard  Bank account  310864860 wh ich  is  then used to  10 

pay a  who le  range o f  da i ry  re la ted  costs  over  the  course  o f  

a  per iod  o f  t ime .   Here  o f  tha t  R6 mi l l ion  o r ig ina l  loan 

R4 135 829.63 goes to  en t i t ies  tha t  I  assume are  re la ted  to  

the  prov i s ion  o f  the  da i ry  fa rm .   I t  goes to  var ious  

cont rac tors  and loca l  bus inesses in  Vrede.   And. . .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Bu t  inc luded in  tha t  i s  sa la r ies  to  

–  we l l  to  h im?  

MR HOLDEN:   Indeed.   Thank you fo r  po in t ing  tha t  ou t .   

One o f  the  la rges t  rec ip ien ts  o f  funds in  tha t  –  and ac tua l l y  

over the l i fe of  the Est ina Project ,  when I  refer to dai ry 20 

re lated costs,  I  a lso mean employee costs there.   By far the 

largest  recipient  of  funds personal ly form the Est ina Project ,  

in that  regard was a man by the name of  Chandra(?) 

Maprusaad(?).    

 And Chandra Maprusaad in the Gupta- leak-show was a 
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very close Gupta associate.   His work – these [speaker not  

c lear]  – for South Afr ica was arranged by the Gupta 

enterpr ise.   I  th ink,  as far as I  recal l ,  on the Sahara Base 

let terhead.  He had no exper ience whatsoever in agr icul ture.   

I t  appears that  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    What was his experience?  

MR HOLDEN :    H is experience appears to be based – f rom 

what we can discern in the Gupta leaks is that  he was ei ther  

a jun ior to or a PA to a former Indian Intel l igence off icer.    

 And i f  we – I  am not  sure i f  you recal l (?) here but  I  th ink 10 

there was a wi tness by the name of  Pasan(?) who appeared 

before the Commission at  a certain stage.   And he descr ibed 

the experience of  interact ing wi th Chandra Maprusaad 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  yes,  yes,  yes.   I  th ink I  remember 

that .  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is r ight .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR HOLDEN :    Where Chandra Maprusaad could not  

understand why al l  the cows were dying and he had to 20 

explain that  they cannot just  surv ive off  grass.   That  they 

needed feed as wel l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR HOLDEN :    Ja.   And over t ime – over  the length of  the 

Est ina Project ,  that  we can see,  he gets paid just  over  
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R 3 mi l l ion in th is  per iod.   So a very substant ia l  sa lary over  

th is per iod of  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR HOLDEN :    We also see him interact ing wi th the var ious 

Gupta Enterpr ise’s employees,  t ry ing to advise them on how 

they can get  cer tain securi ty  or  diplomat ic c learances in 

India.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR HOLDEN :    So I  would imagine that  part  of  the reason he 

was employed was to faci l i tate those sort  of  contacts.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    There is also an amount  of  just  

under 460 000 that  goes to AFGRI Equipment in one of  your 

red boxes coming out  of  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  . . . [ intervenes]   

[Part ies intervening each other – unclear]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    [ Ind ist inct ]   

MR HOLDEN :    So of  that ,  the six mi l l ion loan,  R 459 876 is  

paid on the 11t h of  January,  to the r ight ,  to  AFGRI 

Equipment.   They receive a further payment f rom this  20 

t ranche,  which is why I  indicated a tota l  there of  2.819 and I  

wi l l  show where those funds come f rom.   

 And then to close our f i rst  step.   Some(?)  is st range.   I  

do not  fu l ly understand the reason behind this  but  one of  the 

Oakbay Transfers to Kamal  Vasram was for R 1.2 mi l l ion on 
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the 6 t h of  November.    

 And we can see here,  i t  goes f rom Kamal  Vasram’s 

Standard Bank account  al l  the way up gladly(?) to the r ight  

up to Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda account.   Current  account 

02255.  That  amount  is then immediately  put  into a cash 

margin account and i t  stays there for. . .    

 Apologies.   I t  says there for about  18-days where i t  is  

returned back to Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda account.   And then 

ul t imately paid onwards to an ent i ty that  is descr ibed in the 

budget (?) statement as Vrede,  Pretor ius and Bosman at  that  10 

FNB address.    

 And some l imi ted onl ine searches seems to suggest  that  

Pretor ius and Bosman were a law f i rm based in Vrede.   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can you. . .   On this diagram, al l  of  

the money appears to be or ig inat ing in an Oakbay loan and 

al l  of  i t  goes through Kamal Vasram to Est ina.   Can you 

suggest  that  may – why the money f low may have be 

designed that  way?  

MR HOLDEN :    The only possible reason I  can think,  is to 

create a degree of  confusion in t rac ing the funds to create a 20 

distance between Oakbay and Est ina.  

 So that  when an invest igator was to look at  the Est ina,  

Standard bank account,  for example,  they wi l l  be seeing a 

whole range of  t ransfers f rom Kamal Vasram who is  the sole 

di rector of  Est ina.   And he could argue at  that  point :   See,  I  
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am put t ing in my own funds into this venture.    

 Whereas,  i f  you had Kamal Vasram’s bank account,  you 

real ise that  actual ly i t  is none of  his own funds.   I t  is  

Oakbay’s funds.   And as you wi l l  see,  those Oakbay’s funds 

are eventual ly returned.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can we then go to step 2?  

MR HOLDEN :    Step 3.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Oh,  sorry step 3.   Step 3.  

MR HOLDEN :    Step 3 works sl ight ly di fferent ly.   There is as 

loan amount that  is t ransferred f rom Oakbay into Kamal  10 

Vasram’s Bank of  Baroda counter account,  which is 024/262.   

500 000 is t ransferred here up to the r ight .   Of  the 500 000 

up to the 26t h  of  October 2012, of  that  150 000 is 

immediately . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry Mr Holden,  you have lost  me 

again.   What page is that  one? 

MR HOLDEN :    Oh,  that  wi l l  be the fol lowing.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    696,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    696? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Indeed.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Yes,  thank you.  

MR HOLDEN :    So on the 26t h of  October 2012,  500 000 is  

t ransferred to Kamal Vasram’s Bank of  Baroda bank account  

f rom the Oakbay loan faci l i ty.   On that  same day,  350 000 is 

then t ransferred into Sunday Trading’s Standard Bank 
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account.    

 And as we discussed yesterday,  Sunday Trading was a 

sole director of  Sunday Trading,  Kamal Vasram but  i t  was 

impl icated in a ser ies of  State Capture related scams with 

the Free State Government.   And the remaining 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And was that  involving – I  th ink 

yesterday you test i f ied that  i t  involved sel l ing computers 

der ived f rom Sahara at  a very substant ia l  mark-up to the 

provincial  government.  10 

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.   Of  the remaining 

R 500 000,00,  a  R 15 000,00 is  t ransferred to  Est ina ’s  

Standard Bank account where i t  is used to pay – i t  is 

comingled wi th the other funds to pay al l  sorts of  assorted 

dairy costs.   And then we have a f inal ,  s l ight ly compl icated 

step.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Page 697 Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.  

MR HOLDEN :    Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes? 20 

MR HOLDEN :    This begins wi th step 4 which I  have 

indicated here at  the bot tom.  Again,  there was another  

amount of  the Oakbay loans that  behaves very di fferent ly  

and i t  becomes qui te a compl icated t reatment  which is  qui te  

clear ly designed as a money laundering exercise.    
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 We can see that  on the 11t h of  October 2012,  

R 3.5 mi l l ion is t ransferred f rom Oakbay’s loan to  Kamal 

Vasram’s Bank of  Baroda current  account.    

 That  is then immediate ly t ransferred onwards to Est ina’s 

Standard Bank account.   And then on that  same day,  

2.359 mi l l ion is paid to  AFGRI Equipment.   I  am sorry,  i t  is  

the fol lowing day rather than the same day.    

 So on the 12t h  of  October,  we see a l ine to the r ight  here 

f rom Est ina ’s Standard Bank to AGRI Equipment and that  

br ings the total  to  just  over – just  under three mi l l ion,  or at  10 

least  two parts paid in.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Three mi l l ion to AFGRI?  

MR HOLDEN :    To AFGRI.   That  is correct .   That  leaves,  

af ter th is payment was made, just  over a mi l l ion rand f rom 

the or ig inal  R 3.5 mi l l ion loan.    

 That  is then t ransferred back into Kamal Vasram’s Bank 

of  Baroda account on the 12t h  of  October 2012 and that  is 

step 5 in my diagram here.   

 That  amount  then comingles wi th  another amount  in  

Kamal Vasram’s Bank of  Baroda current  account.   My 20 

apologies.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And that  is the. . .   That  would be 

the missing 950 000 that  we were d iscussing yesterday.  

MR HOLDEN :    Correct .   So I  suspect  that  that  150 000 

might  have der ived f rom the Tranche 0 payment that  was 
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paid to Est ina ’s ABSA account because there is a payment 

out  of  150 000.    

 And i t  seems qui te a coincidence that  that  amount then 

gets reintegrated back into the laundering system.   So that  

R 1.05 mi l l ion jo ins wi th the R 150 000 and is then 

t ransferred into Est ina,  Bank of  Baroda f ixed deposi t  

account.    

 So again,  what is not iceable there is that  i t  is not  a 

Kamal Vasram’s Bank of  Baroda f ixed deposi t  account .   He is 

t ransferr ing funds f rom his own account to create an Est ina 10 

f ixed deposi t  account.    

 The – this current  account remains act ive for a – for just  

over f ive months i f  my maths is correct .   No,  apologies.   I t  

is. . .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    I t  is just  under a year.  

MR HOLDEN :    Sorry,  just  under a year.   Apologies.   

R 2 mi l l ion is then – i t  is t ransferred f rom that  f ixed deposi t  

account into Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda account.    

 At  that  point ,  on the 4 t h,  i t  jo ins an amount  of  

R 28 mi l l ion that  we saw f rom Tranche 0 that  is pa id into – 20 

that  was the f ixed deposi t  in Tranche 0.    

 I t  is then paid out  to Est ina’s Standard Bank account  

that  which then faci l i tates the R 30 mi l l ion t ransfer  to the 

r ight  here to  get  . . . [ ind ist inct ]  [speaker  is not  c lear]  which is  

the offshore payment that  we were discussing in the previous 
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t ranche.   And we can . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Just  to recap here.   When we 

deal t  wi th that  payment of  just  over 32 mi l l ion Dol lars to 

Gateway yesterday,  28 mi l l ion had come from Tranche 0 and 

what you are descr ib ing here is the remaining 2 mi l l ion.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct .   So to clar i fy.   We can 

def in i t ively t race of  that  30 mi l l ion,  28 mi l l ion def in i te ly came 

from Tranche 0.   1.05 mi l l ion def in i te ly came from Tranche 1.   

And I  suspect  the remaining 150 000 came from Tranche 0.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Then i f  you can complete the loan 10 

back story.  

MR HOLDEN :    Yes.   Which is on the fo l lowing . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    That  is then on page 698.   So thus 

far,  i t  looks l ike this ent i re money f low has been funded by 

an Oakbay loan.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.   What we see now is  

the Free State Government pay in  money suff ic ient  to now 

set t le those loans.   So that  happens as step 7 on my 

diagram here.    

 On the 18t h of  Apri l  2013,  R 34.95 mi l l ion,  I  have 20 

included the M.  So i t  is not  R 34.95.   I t  is paid on the Free 

State Government  in Est ina’s Standard Bank account.    

 That  is then – 10 mi l l ion of  which is  then t ransferred 

immediately on the 19t h of  Apr i l  2013 into Est ina’s  Bank of  

Baroda counter account 02255.   
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 And then again on the same day,  that  is then p laced into 

a f ixed deposi t  account as step 8 wi th the account number 

03/245.    

 This is where things get  very compl icated.   Est ina then. . .   

Oh, so Kamal Vasram then opens up a loan account of  

R 9.5 mi l l ion up here in the le f t -hand corner which is  

guaranteed against  the Est ina’s  Bank of  Baroda f ixed deposi t  

account which again Chai r  is a very useful  way of  breaking 

the f low of  funds.  

 Because unless you have the underl in ing banking 10 

instruct ions f rom the Bank of  Baroda,  you wi l l  not  know that  

the loan amount is actual ly based on Est ina’s funds.    

 That  9.5 mi l l ion is then t ransferred out  over the course 

of  three days in one payment of  5 mi l l ion and one payment of  

4.5 mi l l ion on the 19t h of  Apri l  2013 and the 

22n d  of  Apri l  2013.   Respect ively,  i t  gets paid to Oakbay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So that  is Kamal Vasram repaying 

the or ig inal  Oakbay advance on the basis of  funds that  are 

secured by Est ina f ixed deposi t  which in turn has been 

funded by the Free State Government.  20 

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.   And then the f inal  step 

in th is part icular loan back scheme is step 10 up here which 

is that  f inal ly on the 14t h of  October 2013,  the f ixed deposi t  

account is c losed and the proceeds are paid back into 

Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda counter account 02/255.    
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 And the loan account is then closed and i t  is set t led.   As 

you can see there is a dot ted l ine there and I  should have 

made perhaps a l i t t le b i t  c learer.    

 When I  indicate a dot ted l ine,  ei ther they a fund f low 

based on a guarantee rather than an actual  fund f low.  I f  that  

makes sense.    

 And then here we have the loan get  set t led by the f ixed 

deposi t ’s c losure.   That  happens on the 14t h of  October  

2013.   

 And i t  is an amount of  R 9 577 673,  94 which is the 9.5 10 

mi l l ion plus a smal l  amount of  added interest  that  has been 

set t led against  the 10 mi l l ion funds which effect ively closes 

the loan back and al lows us to see that  al l  of  these funds are 

ul t imately paid back using Free State Government funds.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    That  is the end of  part  2 of  

t ranche. . .   Sorry,  part  1 of  Tranche 1.   Before we get  to part  

2.   Maybe i f  we can go back to the big p icture which is page 

692.   So you can show us where part  2 is going to f i t  in.    

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So part  2 on the big diagram is a 

– is indicated by the pink l ines.   And again,  i t  wi l l  be making 20 

use of  a f ixed deposi t  and loan arrangement.   And i t  

eventual ly pays out  funds to Vargaf ie ld,  L inkway Trading and 

on dai ry costs as wel l .    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can we then go to the close up of  

part  2 which starts on page 699.    
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MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   What we have here is  

effect ive ly another loan back scheme using Oakbay in which 

ul t imately the funds are repaid using Free State Government 

funds.   I f  I  may go to the next  page to start  the step bi ts? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Okay.   That  would be page 700 

Chai r.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.  

MR HOLDEN :    Okay.   So on the 18 t h of  Apr i l ,  the f i rs t  step is  

the deposi t  in  f rom the Free State Government of  

R 34.95 mi l l ion.   I t  goes into Est ina ’s Standard Bank here to 10 

the r ight .   That  is then t ransferred four days later,  

R 24.95 mi l l ion.    

 I t  is then t ransferred up and to Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda 

account.   And i f  you recal l  f rom the previous part  of  Tranche 

1.   That  was happening roughly at  the same t ime as the 

R 10 mi l l ion st ream was devoted into a f ixed deposi t  

account.    

 And then on the 22n d of  Apri l  2013,  so the same day,  i t  is 

paid into Est ina’s  Bank of  Baroda current  account.   I t  is put  

into a Bank of  Baroda f ixed deposi t  account,  03/246.    20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    H’m.  

MR HOLDEN :    To the fol lowing page? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    To the fol lowing page, which is  

701.   So we are now si t t ing wi th a f ixed deposi t  of  25 mi l l ion.  

MR HOLDEN :    And the step 3 here is that  Kamal  Vasram 
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again takes out  a  R 4 mi l l ion loan wi th the Bank of  Baroda 

with account number 06/297.   And here I  have indicated wi th 

a dot ted l ine.    

 He takes i t  out  against  the Est ina Bank of  Baroda f ixed 

deposi t  account,  which as you saw previously,  was a good 

way of  breaking electronic f low of  funds you would not  be 

able to see where that  was der ived f rom.   

 That  R 4 million ul t imately ends up back in Est ina’s 

Standard Bank account  operat ing,  according to the Standard 

Oakbay loan back.    10 

 But  we saw here,  which is qui te interest ing,  when we 

were looking into th is part icular payment once I  received the 

statements f rom the Commission is  that  the Bank of  Baroda 

loan account for Kamal Vasram, the R 4 mi l l ion loan account,  

i f  you look at  that  statement. . .    

 Wel l ,  i t  is – in the wi thdrawal f igure,  i t  actual ly states i t  

is going to Oakbay Investments but  i t  goes to no Oakbay 

Investment account at  a l l .    

 Instead,  i t  turns in Est ina ’s Standard Bank account wi th 

the reference Kamal Vasram.   20 

 So what I  suspect  happened was that  the Bank of  

Baroda knew qui te wel l  that  th is  amount was u l t imately going 

to be paid onto Kamal Vasram anyway and skipped a step 

instead of  paying i t  into Oakbay’s account.   Just  paid i t  

d i rect ly  into Est ina’s Standard Bank account wi th the 
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reference Vasram.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can we then go to step 4?  

MR HOLDEN :    So step 4 wi th the R 4 mi l l ion is then paid 

out  in assorted costs.   So we have R 157 320,00 that  is  paid 

out  on the 8 t h of  May 2013.  That  goes to Linkway Trading.    

 We have two t ransfers that  are made on the 

24t h of  Apri l  2013 and the 6 t h of  May 2013.  And those 

ul t imately  get  pa id out  to Vargaf ie ld here for a total  of  

3.25 mi l l ion.    

 And then there is an approximate amount because there 10 

is a sl ight  di ff icul ty in disaggregat ing the exact  funds at  th is 

point  f rom the Est ina bank account.    

 But  according to my calculat ions,  approximately  

R 358 739,00 of  that  R 4 mi l l ion loan is paid on assorted 

dairy costs.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And i f  you can do step 5 on page 

703?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   Chai r,  step 5 effect ively closes 

this loan back system.  On the 124t h of  October 2013, 

Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda f ixed deposi t  account is c losed and 20 

the proceeds are paid into Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda current  

account 02/255.    

 And i t  is used to pay back the loan over here to the lef t  

going up to Kamal Vasram’s account  which then closes 

Kamal Vasram’s R 4 mi l l ion loan account.    
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 The total  amount that  is paid through set t led i t  is  

R 4 035 131,32.   I t  is paid on the 14t h of  October 2013 which 

is the R 4 mi l l ion or ig inal  amount plus R 35 000,00 in  

interest  that  had been accrued in that  per iod.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And that  is the end of  part  2.   I f  

we go over the page to 704,  we see a diagram of  part  3 of  

th is f i rst  t ranche.   And again maybe before we get  into any 

detai l  there,  i f  we can go back to the big picture of  the whole 

of  Tranche 1 on page 692.   Can you show the Chai r  on 692 

what we are going to be looking at  now?  10 

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So part  3 funds are indicated on 

the b ig diagram in blue l ines.   And effect ively what we have 

here is another loan back scheme being used.    

 This t ime, however,  i t  is not  Oakbay that  is paying out  a  

loan.   I t  is  Error(?)  Heaven(?).   And Error Heaven,  as we 

discussed yesterday,  is another Gupta enterpr ise company in  

which Ronica Ragavan is the pr imary director.    

 I t  goes through qui te an extensive loan back loop.   

Again,  funded by and set t led wi th  var ious amounts of  loan 

accounts and ul t imately disgorges in payments of  20 

R 2 mi l l ion.    

 Just  over 2 mi l l ion.   R 2 052 112,00 on assorted dai ry  

costs.   R 5 . . . [ ind ist inct ]  [speaker not  c lear]  mi l l ion paid over 

to Vargaf ie ld over a per iod of  t ime of  – between the 

30t h  of  August  2013 and the 10t h of  September 2013.   
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R 2.2 mi l l ion paid also to Vargaf ie ld and a f ina l  amount of  

R 8875 000,00 also paid to Vargaf ie ld.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Does Gateway not  pick up a l i t t le  

amount as wel l?  

MR HOLDEN :    Oh,  correct .   Correct  Chai r.   And then there 

is an amount  of  approximately R 3.52 mi l l ion that  der ives 

f rom Tranche 1,  part  3 which we wi l l  turn to now that  goes to  

Gateway Limited as part  of  the broader – a bigger 4.57.   So 

seven mi l l ion t ransfer.   That  t ransfer is funded wi th funds 

f rom this t ranche and also Tranches 2 and 3.    10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Okay when you say 4.75 mi l l ion.   

You are talk ing Dol lars not  Rands.    

MR HOLDEN :    No,  that  is Rands.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Wel l ,  let  us get  to i t .   The total  

amount that  wi l l  go to Gateway is Dol lars.   Wel l ,  let  us get  to 

i t .  

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can we then go back to page 204 

where you start  – where there is  a diagram of  Tranche 3.   

And maybe to star t  wi th step 1 on page 705.  20 

MR HOLDEN :    So as we discussed previously,  th is step 

starts  wi th the R 34.95 mi l l ion payment  into Est ina ’s 

Standard Bank account by the Free State Government which 

is then placed into the Est ina’s Bank of  Baroda account  and 

then that  creates the R 25 mi l l ion Est ina f ixed deposi t  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 37 of 130 
 

account which we descr ibed in the previous part .    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And over the page on page 706 for 

steps 2 and 3.  

MR HOLDEN :    This is where i t  gets sl ight ly more 

compl icated.   Step 2,  Kamal Vasram takes out  two loans.   

One worth R 2 mi l l ion and one worth R 1 mi l l ion.   And i t  is  

guaranteed.   The procedure to the lef t  over here.   Let  me 

just  zoom in to make that  c learer.    

 You can see here that  those two loans to Kamal Vasram 

are guaranteed against  a Est ina f ixed deposi t  account wi th 10 

account number 03/249.    

 That  f ixed deposi t  account is funded with Tranche 2 

money.   However,  these two loans are ul t imately set t led 

against  Tranche 1 money which I  wi l l  then go and descr ibe 

as we go further.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And step 3.  

MR HOLDEN :    Step 3 Chai r  involves the payment of  those 

two loans f rom Kamal  Vasram.   I t  gets paid into the Est ina’s  

Standard Bank account.    

 And I  just  need to double check the dates of  those.   The 20 

f i rst  one mi l l ion rand is t ransferred on the 11t h of  June 2013.   

And as far as I  can see,  that  is the f i rst  date of  the second 

one as wel l .    

 I t  gets paid into Est ina’s Standard Bank account as step 

3.   And then pay onwards to var ious rec ipients.   625 000 is  
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t ransferred to Vargaf ie ld on the 17t h of  May 2013 and 

250 000 is t ransferred on the. . .    

 My apologies Chair.   On the 7t h of  June 2013.  There is  

also two amounts which are t ransferred.   Two amounts which 

eventual ly get  comingled and t ransferred over to pay 

assorted dai ry costs.   The f i rst  amount is a mi l l ion rand – 

R 1 052 112,00 which is paid out  on the – between the 

17t h  of  May 2013 and the 10t h  of  June 2013.   

 And then a further  amount of  R 1.339 mi l l ion which is  

paid out  on the 12t h of  June 2013 – between 10 

12t h  of  June 2013 and the 4 t h of  July 2013 of  which a mi l l ion 

rand is der ived f rom the loan.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Then over the page on 707,  you 

have steps 4 and 5.  

MR HOLDEN :    Here at  step 4,  Error  Heaven grants a loan to  

Kamal Vasram of  R 8.9 mi l l ion and those amounts are,  l ike 

wi th the Oakbay loan,  immediately t ransferred into Kamal  

Vasram’s Standard Bank account and f rom there immediately 

t ransferred into Est ina’s Standard Bank account where i t  is  

used for a range of  di fferent  expendi tures which you can see 20 

here in step 5,  the loan amounts are paid out .    

 And my calculat ion suggest  that  f rom this R 8.9 mi l l ion 

loan,  Vargaf ie ld has paid R 5 950 000,00.   Gateway gets 

approximately R 557 000,00.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And that  557 wi l l  form part  
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. . . [ intervenes]   

MR HOLDEN :    A much larger payment.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    A much larger payment.   You have 

got  19.87 mi l l ion on your diagram.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Once again,  just  the inter-posi t ion 

of  Vasram between Error Head(sic) and Est ina,  is  serv ing 

what purpose?  

MR HOLDEN :    Chai r,  I  suspect  that  the pr imary purpose. . .   

Wel l ,  I  suspect  two pr imary purposes.   The one is to make 10 

the t racing of  the funds sl ight ly more di ff icul t .    

 And the second is that  i t  creates a break between Error  

Heaven and Est ina which could be used to just i fy. . .  

 I f  an invest igator was to look at  Est ina’s Standard Bank 

statements or for example the Free State Government,  

Kamal Vasram wi l l  be able to  say:   Look,  I  have put  in  th is 

amount of  money into Est ina.    

 When in actual  fact  i t  der ives f rom Oakbay.   Sorry,  f rom 

Error Heaven in th is case.   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Indeed.   And so then can we go 20 

over the page to 708 and steps 6,7,  8 and 9 start ing wi th  

step 6?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So at  the very top of  the diagram, 

we see at  step 6,  Kamal Vasram takes out  a R 19.5 mi l l ion 

loan against  the Est ina f ixed deposi t  account 03/297 which 
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had been funded by the or ig inal  R 25 mi l l ion payment.    

 That  loan is then paid out  on the 19t h. . .   Sorry,  on the 

20t h of  September 2013.  The 419.5 mi l l ion is then 

t ransferred as step 7 into Kamal Vasram’s Bank of  Baroda 

bank account.    

 So i f  I  might  h ighl ight  here?  We see an amount  of  

Est ina f ixed deposi t  account guaranteeing an amount for 

Kamal Vasram.   

 Therefore,  creat ing a di ff icul ty – i t  wi l l  be di ff icul t  for  an 

invest igator to know that  the loan amount is based on the 10 

f ixed deposi t  account wi thout  the banking inst ruct ions.    

 And to turn to step 7.   The R19 5 mi l l ion loan is then 

immediately paid out  to  reset t le – to set t le the 2 mi l l ion rand 

loan and the. . .    

 Apologies Chai r.   And the one mi l l ion rand loan that  I  

descr ibed sl ight ly  ear l ier.   Then on the -  se t t les  those two  

loan accounts  wh ich  a re  e f fec t i ve ly  se t t led  w i th  t ranche 1  

funds.    

8 .9  m i l l ion  o f  tha t  o r ig ina l  R90.5  m i l l ion  loan is  then  

t ransfer red  on the  20  September  2013 to  Aerohaven and  20 

tha t  e f fec t i ve l y  c loses the  Aerohaven loan and aga in  what  

th is  en t i re  s t ruc ture  has done,  an  invest iga tor  was to  t ry  

and es tab l i sh  whether  these -  Kamal  Vasram was the  

source  o f  those loans o f  the  payments  in to  Est ina .   He w i l l  

be  ab le  to  p resent  bank s ta tements  say ing ,  as  you can  
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see ,  I  too  go t  a  loan f rom Aerohaven but  I  a lso  repa id  tha t  

loan f rom Aerohaven there fore  these a re  my funds,  be ing  

pa id  in to  Est ina .  

 And then,  as  a  f ina l  s tep ,  5 .8  m i l l ion ,  tha t  i s  the  

remainder  o f  the  R19.5  m i l l ion  loan,  i s  t ransfer red  down 

in to  the  r igh t  on  the  20  September  2013 in to  Est ina  

S tandard  Bank account  and tha t  i s  then coming led  w i th  a 

much la rger  se t  o f  amounts  s temming f rom o ther  t ranches,  

f rom t ranche 2  funds in  par t i cu la r  and is  u l t imate ly  pa id  

over  to  Gateway L im i ted .   So we can see f rom th is  10 

par t i cu la r  s tep  o f  t ranche one,  5 .8  m i l l ion  i s  pa id  over  to  

Gateway L im i ted .   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Then can we c lose  out  par t  3  on  

page 709?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.   So  s tep  10 ,  wh ich  is  the 

penu l t imate  s tep ,  invo lves -  the  Est ina  f i xed  depos i t  

account  i s  c losed and the  proceeds are  pa id  on  the  14  

October  2013 in  Baroda account  w i th  the  account  number  

92022213201001  and I  ind ica ted  i t  as  unknown Baroda 

account  because  we are  s t i l l  no t  en t i re ly  c lea r  based on  20 

the  Commiss ion ’s  reco rds  the  exac t  na ture  o f  the  account .   

I t  does i t  tu rn  up  a  suspense account  bu t  on  the  Bank o f  

Baroda ’s  own account  s ta tements ,  o r  the  f i xed  depos i t  

account ,  i t  re fe rs  to  an  en t ry  ca l led  Zo lo fo(? )  (P ty)  L td .    

I  cannot  –  I  am a f ra id  I  cannot  en t i re ly  exp la in  why  
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th is  takes p lace .   I  suspect  tha t  perhaps there  was a  

c le r i ca l  e r ro r  and the  amount  was pa id  in to  the  wrong  

account  and then  eventua l l y  re tu rned back in to  Est ina  f i xed  

depos i t  account .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    E i the r  way the  25  mi l l ion  goes 

out  and comes back a  shor t  wh i le  l a te r.  

MR HOLDEN:    Pre t ty  much on the  same day and then –  so  

wh ich  is  my reason ing  beh ind  the  c le r ica l  e r ro r  tha t  i t  

happens on exact ly  the  same day and then the  R25  mi l l ion  

is  then eventua l l y  –  pays back ou t  o f  the  f i xed  depos i t  10 

account  in to  Est ina ’s  Bank o f  Baroda account  and then 

merc i fu l l y,  as  the  f ina l  s tep ,  the  R19.5  m i l l ion  Kamal  

Vasram loan is  then se t t led  w i th  the  c losure  o f  the  f i xed  

depos i t  account  and tha t  i s  se t t led  w i th  a  payment  o f  

R19 593 066.61,  tha t  i s  pa id  on  the  14  October  2013 wh ich  

wou ld  be  the  19 .5  m i l l i on  p lus  rough ly  R93 000 in  in te res t  

accrued.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And then a t  page 710 we have 

par t  four  wh ich  is  merc i fu l l y  s imp le .   Maybe once aga in  jus t  

fo r  o r ien ta t ion  purposes i f  we can go back to  692 jus t  to  20 

see where  we are  in  the  b ig  p ic tu re .  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  so  as  I  ind ica ted  prev ious ly  pa r t  

four  i s  –  the  par t  four  a r rows are  in  a  sor t  o f  o rangey red  

co lour  and i t  invo lves the  d ispos i t ion  o f  a  remain ing  R2  

mi l l ion  f rom Free S ta te  government  wh ich  does not  ac tua l l y  
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take  a  very  long  t r ip  a round,  bu t  i s  eventua l l y  d i sgorged  

in to  Vargaf ie ld .    

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And tha t  we see on page 710.  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t .    

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    That  i s  the  end o f  t ranche 1 .   

Tranches 2  to  7  a re  a  lo t  s imp le r,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    We wi l l  move them qu i te  qu ick ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  tha t  one took qu i te  some t ime.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Mr  Ho lden,  can you take  us  to  10 

t ranche 2  on  page 711?   

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly  I  am jus t  b r ing ing  i t  up  here .   I t  

has  appeared to  be  d isagree ing  up w i th  my computer,  we  

have i t  up  now.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And maybe aga in  take  us  to  the  

s ta r t ing  po in t  and the  end po in ts  and anyth ing  o f  no te  in  

be tween?  

MR HOLDEN:    Abso lu te ly,  so  aga in  we s tar ted  th is  funds 

f low wi th  the  g reen depar tu re  po in t  box f rom the  Free S ta te 

government  and tha t  i s  a  payment  o f  R30 mi l l ion  on  the  26  20 

Apr i l  2013 and tha t  i s  t ranche 2  funds and i t  u l t imate ly  i s  

then pa id  ou t  v ia  –  i t  i s  smur fed  and then put  in to  a  f i xed  

depos i t  account  fo r  a  shor t  per iod  o f  t ime and then 

u l t imate ly  pa id  ou t  to  Gateway L im i ted  where  i t  is  then  

fu r ther  d isbu rsed  and we see the  u l t imate  rec ip ien ts  o f  
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these funds we see in  the  red  boxes to  the  le f t  here ,  we 

have th ree  rec ip ien ts .   There  i s  a  109 932.40 do l la rs  tha t  i s  

pa id  to  an  en t ry  tha t  i s  un for tunate ly  no t  descr ibed  in  the  

Duba i  ledgers .   But  then we have an amount  o f  135 000  

d i rham which  is  pa id  ou t  on  the  13  October  2013  to  an  

en t i t y  by  the  name o f  Th i rd  Eye Enterp r ises .   Aga in  I  am 

not  en t i re ly  sure  what  ro le  they p layed w i th in  the  Gupta  

en terpr i se ,  i f  any,  and an amount  o f  265 270 do l la rs  and 39  

is  pa id  to  an  en terp r ise  by  the  name o f  Idea fo r  L i fe  

Genera l  Trad ing .   Aga in ,  I  have not  en t i re l y  been  ab le  to  10 

ver i f y  the  exact  ro le  tha t  was  p laced on the  Gupta  

en terpr i se ,  I  p re fer  no t  to  pu t  th ings in to  ev idence tha t  I  

cannot  –  tha t  wou ld  be  pure  specu la t ion  and then the  f ina l  

amount  i s  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Not  ye t  tha t  f ina l  amoun t ,  there  

is  …[ in tervenes]  

MR HOLDEN:    Oh,  apo log ies .   Fur ther  down the  page,  I  

have scro l led  in  too  qu ick ly.    A t  the  bo t tom o f  the  page  

there  is  73  222 d i rham tha t  i s  pa id  to  an  en terpr i se  by  the  

name o f  Re levan  Globa l  and Re levan Globa l  a t  the  t ime  20 

was prov id ing  t rave l  serv i ces  to  the  Gupta  en terp r ise ,  

book ing  f l igh t  t i cke ts  in  par t i cu la r.  

 And then the  f ina l  amount  i s  pa id  f rom Gateway  

L im i ted  in to  F ide l i t y  Enterp r ises ’ account  and i t  i s  an  

amount  o f  3 .1  m i l l ion  do l la rs  tha t  i s  pa id  ou t  on  the  23  
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September  2013  and tha t  i s  pa id  ou t  to  Oakbay 

Investments  and as  we d iscussed  a t  the  prev ious t ranche  

tha t  3 .1  m i l l ion  i s  const i tu ted  o f  3  m i l l i on  do l la rs  f rom 

t ranche 2  and 100 000 do l la rs  f rom t ranche 1 .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And is  there  anyth ing  o f  no te  

tha t  you want  to  h igh l igh t  about  how the  money ge ts  f rom 

the  Free S ta te  government  to  these end po in t s  o r…? 

MR HOLDEN:    I  th ink  i t  re la t ive l y  s t ra igh t fo rward ,  th is  

t ranche,  and I  th ink  the  two so r t  o f  money launder ing  

techn iques to  no te  he re ,  the  f i rs t  i s  as  we d i scussed  10 

yesterday,  the  smur f ing  exerc ise  where  the  R30 m i l l ion  i s  

then d i v ided in to  s ix  equa l  par ts  o f  R5 mi l l ion .  

 The second launder ing  exerc ise  is  to  –  i t  i s  ac tua l l y  

re la ted  to  the  prev ious t ranche ,  I  th ink  i t  m igh t  be  

wor thwhi le  jus t  h igh l igh t ing  how t ranche 2  and t ranche 1  

do  ac tua l l y  f i t  togethe r.   

 So,  as  I  descr ibed p rev ious l y  in  t ranche 1  there  

were  two loans o f  a  m i l l ion  rand  and 2  m i l l ion  tha t  were  

taken out  and i t  i s  aga ins t  th is  depos i t  here ,  so  you can  

see th is  f i xed  depos i t  here  tha t  those loans were  issued.  20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Ho lden.   Then le t  

us  move fo rward  to  t ranche 3  wh ich  is  even s imp le r.   Sor ry,  

yes ,  t ranche 3 ,  page 712.  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can you take  us  th rough the  
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s ta r t  and end po in ts  and anyth ing  in  be tween tha t  i s  o f  

impor tance?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.   So what  we have here ,  i s  the  

s ta r t  po in t  aga in  i s  the  ye l low box and …[ in tervenes ]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Sor ry,  the  green box.  

MR HOLDEN:    Sor ry,  the  green box,  apo log ies .   The g reen  

box,  i t  i s  f rom Free S ta te  government  and tha t  i s  a  R19.05  

mi l l ion  t ransfe r  f rom the  Free S ta te  government  on  the  3  

May 2013 and tha t  fo rms t ranche 3 .    

The ha l lmark  o f  th is  par t i cu la r  t ranche is  tha t  i t  10 

takes a  very  br ie f  so journ ,  i t  ge ts  pa id  a lmost  immedia te ly  

f rom Est ina  S tandard  Bank account  in to  a  S tan l ib  un i t  t rus t  

account ,  an  investment  account ,  where  i t  s i t s  fo r  

approx imate l y  th ree  months ,  jus t  under  th ree  months  and  

then the  fu l l  amount  p lus  the  proceeds o f  tha t  investment  

a re  then re turned back in to  Est ina ’s  S tandard  Bank 

account  on  the  5  August  2013.   So what  we can see  here  is  

tha t  by  hav ing  access to  the  Free S ta te  government  funds,  

the  Gupta  en terpr ise  has by  invest ing  i t  in  the  S tan l ib  

Bedford  Gardens  account  earned R222 000 fo r  do ing  ve ry  20 

l i t t le .  

 On the  5  August  I  shou ld  a lso  ment ion  tha t  –  so  on  

the  5  August  the  fu l l  amount  i s  t ransfe r red  back in to  Est ina  

S tandard  Bank account ,  there  i t  coming les  w i th  an  amount  

o f  R1 mi l l ion  f rom an Aerohaven  loan tha t  was or ig ina l l y  
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sourced f rom t ranche 1 .   Once tha t  i s  coming led  in  w i th  

S tandard  Bank account  a  100 000 goes to  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Sor ry,  jus t  to  c la r i f y,  tha t  tha t  

Aerohaven loan is  a  loan to  Kamal  Vasram.  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Which  then goes in to  Est ina .  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  cor rec t .   Thank you,  thank you,  

sor ry,  apo log ies ,  Cha i r.   On the  7  August  –  so r ry,  on  the  2  

August  o f  tha t  R1 mi l l ion  loan back a  R100 000 is  

t ransfer red  to  Kamal  Vasram’s  persona l  accoun t .   By 10 

jo in ing  w i th  the  19 .2  m i l l ion  the  remainder  o f  the  1  m i l l i on  

prov ides su f f i c ien t  funds to  then t ransfer  R19.78 mi l l ion  on  

the  7  August  and  tha t  ge ts  pa id  to  Gateway L im i ted .   That  

i s  the  S tandard  Char te red US-based Duba i  bank account .   

I t  takes a  very  br i e f  and unnecessary  de tour.   1 .6  m i l l ion  of  

tha t  i s  t ransfe r red  on the  11  August  2013 in to  G loba l  

Corpora t ion ’s  S tandard  Char te red account .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Sor ry,  Mr  Ho lden,  wou ld  I  be 

cor rec t  tha t  the  R19.2  m i l l ion  t rans la tes  in to  2  m i l l ion 

do l la rs?  20 

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And i t  lands in  the  Gateway  

S tandard  Char te red account .  

MR HOLDEN:    O f  tha t  1 .6  m i l l ion  do l la rs ,  i t  i s  a lmost  

immedia te ly  re tu rned in  two payments  o f  890 000 do l la rs  
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and 700 000 do l l a rs  bo th  on  the  12  August  so  e f fec t i ve ly  

have jus t  moved i t  a round in  c i r c les  in  one day.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Bu t  i t  goes to  a  d i f fe ren t  Gupta  

veh ic le .  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  cor rec t  and i t  goes to  an  Accura te  

Investments  S tandard  Char te red US do l la r  account  where  i t  

jo ins  a  fu r the r  400 000 tha t  had  been pa id  by  Gateway  

L im i ted  on  the  12 t h .   A l l  those coming led  back togethe r,  

wh ich  is  e f fec t i ve ly  the  amount  tha t  had been t ransfe r red  

ear l ie r,  1 .986 mi l l ion  do l la rs  i s  then t ransfer red  ou t  on  the  10 

12 August  2013 to  L inkway Trad ing  and aga in  th is  amount  

and the  prev ious L inkway Trad ing  amount  were  the  

amounts  tha t  were  invo i ce  aga ins t  the  wedd ing  costs .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can I  s top  here  and  maybe  

h igh l igh t  a  d i f fe ren t  laundry  dev i ce  tha t  –  tha t  you have not  

ment ioned.   Th i s  i s  –  i f  you  ta lk  about  cash f i reb reak,  th is  

i s  a lmost  an  o f fshore  f i rebreak because what  we see here ,  

I  wou ld  l i ke  you  to  comment  on  th is ,  what  we see he re  

u l t imate ly  i s  19 .05  mi l l ion  coming in to  Est ina  f rom the  Free  

S ta te  government  and goes around in  c i r c les  and then  20 

comes out  in  essent ia l l y  the  same amount  to  L inkway  

Trad ing .   So a  South  A f r i can company rece ives pub l i c  

funds wh ich  are  eventua l l y  go ing  to  be  t ransfe r red  to  

another  South  A f r i can company but  in  the  meant ime the  

money has gone  o f fsho re ,  has moved between d i f fe ren t  
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veh ic les  o f fsho re ,  so  the re  is  no  way w i th in  South  A f r i ca  

absent  the  Gupta  Leaks tha t  we wou ld  ever  be  ab le  to  l ink  

the  19  mi l l ion  tha t  was rece ived by  Est ina  to  the  19  mi l l ion  

tha t  was pa id  to  L inkway f rom Accura te  because Est ina ’s  

19  m i l l ion  went  to  Gateway,  L inkway ’s  19  m i l l ion  came f rom 

Accura te  and we do not  have s igh t  o f  o f f shore  records .  

MR HOLDEN:    Abso lu te l y,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  an  exce l len t  

po in t .   C lear l y  th is  i s  a l l  des igned to  c rea te  a  –  as  soon as  

funds move f rom South  A f r i ca  o f fsho re  and ce r ta in ly  as  

soon as  they move in to  a  ju r i sd i c t ion  l i ke  UAE o r  Duba i  10 

where  the  l i ke l ihood o f  compl iance w i th  mutua l l y  

ass is tance request  may not  be  as  l i ke ly  as  what  the  Un i ted  

S ta tes  or  the  UK,  i t  becomes  increas ing l y  d i f f i cu l t  to  

access those sor t  o f  bank s ta tements  and i t  c rea tes  

e f fec t i ve l y  a  b l ind  spot  tha t  we have luck i l y  been ab le  to  f i l l  

w i th  the  Gupta  Leaks.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And then –  we l l ,  Cha i r,  I  see  we  

have reached the  tea  break.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  i f  you  are  about  to  f in ish  a  

par t i cu la r  pa r t  we can f in ish  and  then take the  b reak o r  20 

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    I  do  need f i ve  m inutes  w i th  Mr  

Ho lden jus t  to  f lag  someth ing  in  re la t ion  to  the  f i f th  t ranche  

wh ich  is  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  do  tha t .   Ja ,  le t  us  do  tha t .   Ja .  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Oh,  no ,  no ,  no ,  I  need to  speak 

to  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  you to  speak to  h im,  okay.   So you  

need the  break.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    I  do  need a  b reak,  Cha i r,  sor ry,  

bu t  we w i l l  move very  qu ick ly  th rough 4 ,  5 ,  6  and 7 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   You w i l l  use  the  tea  b reak  or  you  

wou ld  l i ke  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Yes,  I  w i l l  use  the  tea  break,  I  

w i l l  no t… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:    A l r igh t ,  we w i l l  take  the  tea  break now.   

I t  i s  about  n ine teen minutes  past ,  we w i l l  resume a t  twenty  

f i ve  to  twe lve .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Mr  Ho lden can we go qu ick l y  

th rough …[ in te rvenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  I  d id  no t  say  in  the  morn ing  

bu t  le t  me say  now,  yesterday ’s  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion  

cont inues to  app ly.  

MR HOLDEN:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you.  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Mr  Ho lden,  can you take  us  

qu ick l y  th rough t ranche 4 ,  aga in  the  s ta r t ing  po in t  and the  

end po in ts  and anyth ing  be tween o f  consequence?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  Cha i r,  the  s ta r t ing  po in t  here  

aga in  i s  in  the  g reen box,  I  th ink  you might  need the  page 

number.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The page?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    713,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    713,  okay.   Yes.  

MR HOLDEN:    So ,  Cha i r,  i t  i s  in i t ia ted  w i th  the  R29.95  10 

mi l l ion  t ransfe r,  bu t  the  t ranche 4  t ransfe r  f rom the  Free 

S ta te  government ,  wh ich  is  pa id  in to  Est ina ’s  S tandard  

Bank account  and w i thout  go ing  th rough every  s ing le  

t ransfer,  as  you can see i t  is  qu i te  compl ica ted ,  i t  

e f fec t i ve l y  opera tes  the  same way as  the  prev ious t ranches 

wh ich  invo lved the  loan back in  wh ich  you can see the  

amount  tha t  i s  pa id  in  by  the  Free S ta te  government  i s  pa id 

in to  Est ina ’s  Bank o f  Baroda ’s  cu r ren t  account  and aga in  

used to  open up a  f i xed  depos i t  account  and another  loan 

amount .  20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    I  th ink  what  you are  ind i ca t ing  to  

the  Cha i r  and to  anyone who is  watch ing ,  I  th ink  you 

ind ica ted  the  loan and the  f i xed  depos i t  incor rec t l y.   So 

you ind ica ted  the  loan as  the  f i xed  depos i t  and the  f i xed  

depos i t  as  –  oh ,  oh ,  no ,  no ,  you …[ in tervenes]  
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MR HOLDEN:    I  have but  I  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing 

s imul taneous ly ]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    You have used the  wrong  

shapes.  

MR HOLDEN:    Yes,  th is  i s  my lack  o f  v isua l  acumen.   Th is  

i s  supposed to  be  th is  shape,  a  rounder  shape ra ther  than 

a  c i r c le  and tha t  i s  supposed to  be  c i r c le  up  here  bu t  what  

you have e f fec t i ve ly  i s  R25 mi l l ion  pu t  in to  a  f i xed  depos i t  

account  wh ich  then secures a  loan fo r  Kamal  Vasram and 

the  purpose o f  tha t  loan is  tha t  aga in  we have  anothe r  10 

Aerohaven loan back sys tem which  s ta r ts  up  here  and in  

to ta l  i t  i s  R13.7  m i l l ion  tha t  is  t ransfer red  over  f rom 

Aerohaven to  Kamal  Vasram’s  account  and then in to  

Est ina ’s  S tandard  Bank account  wh ich  then immedia te ly  

pa id  ove r  to  Vargaf ie ld  and I  w i l l  come to  to ta ls  ve ry  

br ie f l y.   And tha t  Aerohaven loan is  se t t led  by  the  Kamal  

Vasram loan up here  wh ich  is  secured aga ins t  the  f i xed  

depos i t  account  and you can see on the  30  December  2013 

tha t  payment  i s  –  tha t  loan i s  pa id  in to  Est ina ’s  S tandard  

Bank account  and on the  same day i t  i s  t ransfer red  f rom 20 

Est ina ’s  S tandard  Bank account  in to  Kamal  Vasram’s  

persona l  account ,  tha t  i s  a  S tandard  Bank account  and  

then on the  same day i t  i s  t ransfe r red  to  Aerohaven.  

 And once tha t  loan back is  comple ted  the  f i xed  

depos i t  account  i s  c losed and the  amount  tha t  remains  
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a f te r  the  se t t lement  o f  the  loan is  t ransfer red  back in to  

Est ina ’s  S tandard  Bank account  and in  to ta l  we see th ree  

d i f fe ren t  rec ip ien ts  o f  th is  par t i cu la r  t ranche.  

 The f i rs t  i f  Vargaf ie ld  wh ich  rece ived the  la rges t  

amount ,  i t  ge ts  pa id  R18.237 mi l l ion  ou t  o f  th is  t ranche.   

R5.825 mi l l ion  i s  pa id  to  a  company by  the  name o f  UTI  

wh ich  the  Gupta  Leaks show is  a  log is t i cs  and  f re igh t  

company and th is  was the  cost  o f  impor t ing  the  da i ry  

equ ipment  f rom Ind ia .    

And then we have on the  fu r thest  le f t  hand s ide  10 

appropr ia te  R4 m i l l ion  spent  be tween December  2013 and  

March 2014 on a  range o f  d i f fe ren t  da i ry- re la ted  expenses  

inc lud ing  payments  to  SARS,  South  A f r i can Revenue 

Serv i ce ,  Eskom and on sa la r ies  as  we l l .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    So  th is  wou ld  be  the  on ly  

t ranche tha t  s tays  onshore .    

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can we  then go to  t ranche 5  on  

page 714 and s ta r t ing  w i th  the  –  aga in  –  we l l ,  le t  us  s ta r t  

w i th  the  end po in ts  and go back to  the  s ta r t  po in ts  because 20 

there  are  some quest ions I  wou ld  l i ke  to  ask  you in  re la t ion  

to  the  s ta r t  po in ts .  

MR HOLDEN:    So  we jus t  s ta r t  w i th  the  end po in t s .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    So  i f  we s tar t  w i th  the  end po in t .  

MR HOLDEN:    Okay.   Wel l ,  the  end po in ts  a f te r  th is  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 54 of 130 
 

par t i cu la r  t ranche,  Aerohaven earns R3.2  m i l l ion  by  be ing  

par t i c i pant  to  a  loan back scheme.   Vargaf ie ld  i s  pa id  an  

amount  o f  R19 mi l l ion  o f  wh ich  R14.3  m i l l ion  i s  f rom 

t ranche 5  and then the  remainder  o f  tha t  t ranche is  then 

pa id  ou t  to  Est ina ’s  FNB account  wh ich  had then  

subsequent ly  use o f  the i r  ma in  bank ing  account  and we  

can see two payments  in to  Est ina ’s  FNB account .   The f i rs t  

i s  on  the  21  November  2014 o f  R3 890 752.40  and a  

payment  o f  R15.79 mi l l ion  on  the  5  August  2015 br ing ing  

the  to ta l  amount  tha t  i s  t ransfer red  f rom Est ina ’s  S tandard  10 

Bank and Bank o f  Baroda ’s  accounts  in to  Est ina  in to  FNB 

account  o f  R15.79 mi l l ion .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can we then get  to  the  s ta r t  

po in ts?   So the  f i rs t  one is  Free S ta te  government  –  we l l ,  

can  you take  us  th rough the  s ta r t  po in ts?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.   Cha i r,  so  the  f i rs t  s ta r t  po in t  -= 

we l l ,  ac tua l l y  the  f i rs t  I  have ind ica ted  on the  d iagram is  

ac tua l l y  no t  f i rs t  chrono log ica l l y  i s  the  R30 mi l l ion  tha t  

ge ts  pa id  in  by  the  Free S ta te  government  on  the  25  Ju l y  

2014.    20 

 S l igh t ly  p reced ing  is  a  payment  in  o f  R6 720 657.79 

and tha t  i s  pa id  in  on  the  30  Ju ly.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And where  does tha t  come f rom? 

MR HOLDEN:    We have now –  I  unders tand f rom the  

Commiss ion  when I  f i rs t  had a  look a t  these amounts  the  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 55 of 130 
 

on ly  in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  had was th is  par t i cu la r  re fe rence 

and I  had no i dea what  tha t  m igh t  re fe r  to .   My ev idence 

leader  and o ther  s ta f f  a t  the  Commiss ion  have now a le r ted  

me to  the  fac t  tha t  th is  i s  a  re ference tha t  i s  used fo r  a l l  

SARS payments  fo r  VAT rebates .   So th is  i s  a  SARS-

re la ted  VAT rebate  tha t  i s  be ing  pa id  in to  Est ina ,  as  i s  the  

amount  tha t  i s  be low tha t  i s  be low tha t  o f  2 .382 894.45.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And,  Cha i r,  there  w i l l  be  fu r ther  

ev idence,  no t  f rom Mr  Ho lden,  bu t  we are  to ld ,  Mr  Ho lden,  

what  tha t  ev idence is  go ing  to  in fo rm the  Commiss ion .   Do 10 

you want  to  share  –  we l l ,  le t  me put  on  record  what  the  

Commiss ion  w i l l  adduce la te r.    

A fa r  g rea te r  amount  than the  VAT tha t  was pa id  

back in  respect  o f  these two payments  was VAT tha t  was  

f raudu len t ly  -  we l l ,  was VAT tha t  was f raudu len t ly  c la imed 

in  respect  o f  payments  to  Vargaf ie ld  who invo iced  w i th  a 

VAT number  tha t  does not  ex i s t  and so ,  in  t ru th ,  ins tead o f  

be ing  due,  these payments  o f  jus t  over  9  m i l l i on  in  

aggregate  f rom SARS,  Est ina ’s  t rue  pos i t ion  was tha t  they 

had c la imed VAT – they had c la imed VAT in  respect  o f  20 

Vargaf ie ld  inputs  tha t  was –  le t  me jus t  ge t  the  exact  

f igure ,  64  m i l l ion  o f  the  VAT input  cos ts  tha t  Est ina  c la imed 

f rom SARS were  c la imed in  respect  o f  Vargaf ie ld  VAT 

invo ices tha t  were  f raudu len t .    

 So  th is  9  m i l l i on  can ac tua l l y  be  added to  the  pub l i c  
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funds tha t  the  Gupta ’s  der ived f rom the  Est ina  en te rpr ises .    

 And then i f  we can move then to  t ranche 6  on  page 

715.  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can you take  us  th rough the  

s ta r t  po in t s?    

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  Cha i r.   Aga in  on  the  fa r  le f t ,  as  

ind ica ted  w i th  the  green boxes there  is  an  amount  tha t  

comes in to  Est ina ’s  FNB account  o f  R15.79 mi l l ion  tha t  

u l t imate ly  der i ved f rom the  prev ious t ranche and  tha t  i s  10 

pa id  on  the  5  August  2015 and on the  same day an amount  

o f  R60 mi l l ion  i s  t ransfer red  f rom the  Free S ta te  

government  on  the  8  May 2015 fo r  R60 mi l l ion  in to  Est ina ’s  

bank account .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A t  th is  s tage there  is  no t  –  the  money 

does not  t rave l  too  long before  i t  reaches the  f ina l  

dest ina t ion .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Indeed,  Cha i r,  i t  moves very  

rap id ly  now and maybe,  Mr  Ho lden,  can you comment  on  20 

tha t?   We saw very  e labora te  moves in  the  ear l ie r  

t ranches,  can you o f fe r  some reasons as  to  why the  money  

moves more  d i rec t l y  and more  qu ick ly  now? 

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.   By  th is  po in t  Est ina ’s  fo rmal  ro le  

w i th in  the  Vrede da i ry  p ro jec t  had  been te rm inated  by  the  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 57 of 130 
 

Free  S ta te  government  and they had a l ready rece ived an  

under tak ing  f rom the  Free S ta te  government  tha t  they 

wou ld  be  pa id  the  remainder  o f  the i r  investment  amount .   

However,  Est ina  had been re l ieved o f  the  ob l iga t ion  to  

p rove tha t  they had invested  the i r  own funds,  so  a t  th is  

po in t  there  was no need to  genera te  a  fa lse  se t  o f  in f lows 

o f  funds to  make i t  seem l i ke  more  money was be ing  

invested  by  Est ina .   E ffec t i ve ly,  have the  abandonment  o f  

the  round- t r ipp ing  programme because there  was no need  

to  f raudu len t ly  increase the  number  o f  depos i ts  com ing in to  10 

the i r  account .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was i t  a lso  no t  a  sense o f  secur i t y,  

maybe peace o f  m ind tha t  no th ing  wou ld  ever  happen,  tha t  

these th ings wou ld  no t  be  uncovered or  wou ld  no t  be  

pursued by  law enforcement  agenc ies?  

MR HOLDEN:    I  th ink  tha t  i s  a  p re t ty  good assumpt ion .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR HOLDEN:    I  th ink  we see a t  th is  po in t  tha t  by  May 

2015 a t  leas t  a l ready qu i te  a  substant ia l  amount  in  known 

about  the  Gupta  en te rp r ise ’s  i nvo lvement  in  the  da i ry  20 

pro jec t  ye t  there  seems to  be  abso lu te ly  no  movement  

towards an  invest iga t ion  and when invest iga t ions are  

under taken by  ENS forens i cs  and la te r  by  the  Pub l i c  

Pro tec tor  in  a  temporary  repor t  –  a  pre l im inary  repor t ,  

sor ry,  those recommendat ions are  e f fec t i ve ly  ignored.   So I  
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th ink  a t  th is  po in t  the  par t i c ipants  i n  the  scheme wou ld  be  I  

th ink  very  jus t i f ied  in  fee l ing  sa fe  a t  th is  po in t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  thank you.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can you br ie f l y  descr ibe  the  

end po in ts  here?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  so  a f te r  a  ve ry  br ie f  so jou rn  in  an  

FNB investment  account  and then in to  an  FNB money 

market  account  the  funds are  eventua l l y  pa id  ou t .   

Vargaf ie ld  i s  pa id ,  here  a t  the  bo t tom r igh t  hand co rne r,  i t  

i s  pa id  R3 416 479.10.   Gateway  is  pa id  R45 091  652.50 10 

and the  reason,  Cha i r,  tha t  th is  –  we have not  ex t rapo la ted  

fu r ther  f rom th is  po in t  i s  tha t  the  Gupta  Leaks reco rds tha t  

we do have on ly  ex tend to  the  end  o f  2014.    

So a t  th is  po in t  we ac tua l l y  now have the  corpora te  

f i rebreak tha t  my  ev idence leader  was re fer r i ng  to  because  

we have funds go ing  o f fshore ,  bu t  we have no idea how 

they were  d iss ipa ted  a t  th is  po in t .  

 And then we have th ree  payments  to  SARS,  South  

A f r i can Revenue Serv i ce ,  we have  R28 387 635.73 tha t  i s  

pa id  aga ins t  –  I  am in fo rmed by  the  Commiss ion  tha t  th is  i s  20 

Est ina ’s  VAT number  and tha t  we have two amounts  tha t  

a re  pa id  in  re la t ion  to  SARS e-F i l ing ,  one fo r  R19 711.23 

and one fo r  R183 002.78.   As  ye t  I  unders tand the  

Commiss ion  is  s t i l l  under tak ing  to  es tab l i sh  who was 

re fer red  to  o r  what  pa r t i cu la r  ind iv idua l  may have been 
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re fe r red  to  w i th  those re ference numbers .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And then f ina l l y,  over  the  page,  

the  las t  t ranche,  page 716.   Very  br ie f l y  take  us  th rough  

th is  t ranche,  i t  i s  a  ve ry  s imp le  t ranche.  

MR HOLDEN:    For tunate ly,  th is  i s  a  ve ry  easy t ranche to  

desc r ibe .   The input  i s  aga in  the  g reen box,  the  Free S ta te  

government ,  pays in  R46 252 652  on the  5  May 2016 in to  

Est ina ’s  FNB cur ren t  account .   The vast  ma jor i t y  o f  tha t  i s  

a lmost  immedia te ly  d iss ipa ted  over  the  course  o f  –  i t  i s  

rough ly  13  days.    10 

 There  are  four  payments  in to  Gateway L im i ted  and 

Gateway L im i ted  is  pa id  a  to ta l  o f  R40 737 452 and then 

a f te r  a  b r ie f  so journ  in  a  ca l l  account ,  Es t ina  FNB ca l l  

account  wh ich  is  then re turned – par t  o f  wh ich  is  re tu rned 

to  Est ina  FNB account .    

We have to  payments  tha t  a re  made to  South  

A f r i can Revenue  Serv ice  aga in  aga ins t  Est ina ’s  VAT 

number  and the  to ta l  amount  pa id  here  is  R5 384 412.26.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Cha i r,  tha t  comple tes  our  

ev idence on the  Est ina  money f lows.   Mr  Ho lden  is  now 20 

go ing  to  move to  d iscuss some o f  the  Transnet  k ickback  

money f lows.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And fo r  the  most  par t  those are  

addressed in  bund le  6 ,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  so  th is  bund le  can be put  away?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Not  fo reve r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Because we w i l l  come back to  

the  ledgers  in  th is  bund le  when we are  desc r ib ing  some o f  

the  Transnet  k ickbacks to  fo l low the i r  movement  o f fshore .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.   Okay,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And th is  bund le ,  Cha i r,  is  

covered by  a  separa te  s ta tement  so  I  must  ask  Mr  Ho lden 

to  conf i rm the  cor rec tness o f  tha t  s ta tement .   Maybe  before  10 

I  do  so ,  Cha i r,  I  must  apo log i se ,  there  are  a  se r ies  o f  

p rob lems wi th  the  annexures to  the  s ta tement  in  pa r t  

because th is  ev idence was brought  fo rward  and we d id  no t  

–  the  p repara t ion  o f  the  annexures was a  b i t  rushed.   We 

wi l l  per iod ica l l y  come to  annexures wh ich  are  dup l i ca tes  o f  

o ther  annexures ins tead o f  the  rea l  document .   Can I  –  we  

w i l l  sor t  a l l  o f  th i s  ou t  on  the  weekend but  ra ther  than take  

you now to  the  fu l l  se t  o f  p rob lemat ic  annexures  when I  

cannot  cure  i t ,  can  we do tha t  i f  we bump in to  one o f  

those?  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  as  and when.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And I  must  apo log i se  fo r  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Mr  Ho lden,  can I  ask  you 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  we w i l l  now use the  f low funds 

bund le  6 ,  hey?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Indeed,  Cha i r,  and un less  I  re fe r  

to  bund le  5 ,  assume tha t  the  re ferences are  bund le  6 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Mr  Ho lden,  can I  ask  you to  go  

to  page 160 and  to  ident i f y  the  s ta tement  tha t  runs f rom 

160 to  162 as  your  s ta tement?  10 

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r,  th is  i s  my s ta tement .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And sub jec t  to  the  prob lems wi th  

the  annexures in  re la t ion  to  the  repor t  tha t  i s  a t tached to  

tha t  s ta tement  w i l l  you  conf i rm  the  cor rec tness  o f  the 

s ta tement  and the  repor t  to  wh ich  i t  re fe rs?  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And tha t  repor t ,  Cha i r,  i s  PEH1 

wh ich  commences on page 163.   Sor ry,  Mr  Ho lden,  w i l l  you  

conf i rm tha t?   I t  is  no t  fo r  me to  conf i rm.  

MR HOLDEN:    Yes,  th is  i s  the  repor t  tha t  I  compi led  and i t  20 

s ta r ts  a t  page 163.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And,  Mr  Ho lden,  th is  i s  a  repor t  

in to  money f lows re la t ing  to  the  Gupta  en te rpr i se  and what  

you descr ibe  as  the  captu re  o f  Transnet .   Can you  br ie f l y  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 62 of 130 
 

g ive  the  Cha i r  an  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am so r ry,  Mr  Chaska lson,  do  you want  

me to  fo rmal ly  admi t  the  s ta tement  o r  no t  rea l l y?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    No,  Cha i r,  i t  i s  a l ready re fer red  

to  as  PEH1 in  the  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Oh,  sor ry,  sor ry,  the  s ta tement?   

Yes,  p lease,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    S ta tement ,  ja .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can the  s ta tement  be  fo rmal ly  10 

admi t ted?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And I  must  confess  I  am not  sure 

where  we a re  in  the  BB se r ies .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i f  you  j un io r  o r  somebody can 

check and then le t  you know?  La ter  on  we can do i t  as  we  

go a long.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Mr  Ho lden,  can you  br ie f l y  20 

desc r ibe  to  the  Cha i r  wh ich  cont rac t s  and wh ich  money  

f lows you w i l l  be  cons ider ing  in  t h is  s ta tement?   Sor ry,  in  

th is  repor t .  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.   So,  Cha i r,  the  focus o f  th is  

repor t  has been t ry ing  to  use,  amongst  o ther  th ings,  the  
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Gupta  Leaks and o ther  ava i lab le  bank ing  documenta t ion  

and  cer ta in  documenta t ion  tha t  was made ava i lab le  to  me  

by the  Commiss ion  to  t ry  and ident i f y  and t race  a l l  the 

funds tha t  were  pa id  to  en t i t ies  tha t  had ente red in to  

k ickback cont rac t s  w i th  Ch ina  South  Ra i l ,  w i th  Ch ina  Nor th  

Ra i l  and i t s  subsequent  merger  company,  CRRC.   

 We a lso  engaged w i th  a  k i ckback cont rac t  in  

re la t ion  to  the  prov is ion  o f  c ranes by  a  Ch inese  

Manufac ture r  ZPMC.  

 And then f ina l l y,  we a lso  examine the  f low o f  funds  10 

in  re la t ion  to  payments  made to  the  Gupta  en terp r ise  by  

L iebher r  and L iebher r  was –  L iebher r  A f r i ca  was cont rac ted  

by  Transnet  to  p rov ide  cranes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And a l though the  repor t  

p recedes in  a  d i f fe ren t  sequence,  I  th ink  i t  may be 

conven ien t  to  s ta r t  w i th  L iebher r  because tha t  i s  a  se l f -

conta ined top ic  whereas the  ZPMC Cranes and the  

locomot ives  have  a  lo t  o f  common ground and contex t  tha t  

needs to  be  desc r ibed fo r  them bo th .    

So can I  ask  you  to  go  to  the  sect ion  o f  your  repor t  20 

wh ich  dea ls  w i th  L iebher r  and tha t ,  Cha i r,  i s  to  be  found a t  

page 203,  203 o f  bund le  6 .   And most  o f  the  cast  o f  

characters  who we w i l l  encounte r ing  here  we have met  

be fore  bu t  there  is  one person who  we have not  met  be fore  

who P iyoosh Goya l  bu t  can you exp la in  to  the  Cha i r  who  
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P iyoosh Goya l  was?   

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly  you w i l l  de f in i te ly  be  hear ing  

about  h im a  lo t  more  in  fu r ther  ev idence.   Mr  Goya l  was the  

Cha i rman o f  the  Wor lds  Window group o f  compan ies  tha t  

was based in  Ind ia  and as  I  ment ioned in  p rev ious 

tes t imony,  the  Wor lds  Window Group and the  Gupta  

en terpr i se  s ta r t  do ing  bus iness together  in  a t  leas t  2010 or  

2011 in  wh ich  per iod  they engage in  a  who le  ser ies  o f  

money launder ing  ac t iv i t ies  and P iyoosh Goya l  i s  in  qu i te  

f requent  contac t  w i th  the  Gup ta  en terp r ise  and is  10 

e f fec t i ve l y  the  most  sen ior  pe rson the  Wor lds  Window 

Group head ing  up  th is  par t i cu la r  re la t ionsh ip .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Then  i f  we move now to  the  

L iebher r  cont rac t  and the  L iebher r  k ickbacks,  can we go to  

page 203 and can you b r ie f l y  descr ibe  to  the  Cha i r  what  

the  L iebher r  cont rac t  was abou t  and how the  Guptas  

become invo lved? 

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  Cha i r.   On the  4  December  2011  

Transnet  pub l i c ly  adver t i sed th ree  separa te  requests  f o r  

p roposa ls ,  RFPs,  re la ted  to  the  expans ion  o f  the  Ngqura  20 

Conta iner  Termina l .    

The f i rs t  request  fo r  p roposa l  requ i red  –  ca l led  fo r  

the  supp ly  o f  18  s ing le  l i f t  rubber  t y re  gant ry  c ranes w i th  

an  op t ion  to  purchase a  fu r ther  ten .  

 The second RFP ca l led  fo r  p roposa ls  to  supp ly  fou r  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 65 of 130 
 

tw in  l i f t  sh ip  to  shore  cranes w i th  an  op t ion  fo r  a  fu r ther  

th ree  s ing le  l i f t  c ranes.  

 The th i rd  RFP asked fo r  b idders  jus t  to  make b ids  

fo r  bo th  o f  those proposa ls  combined.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Go ing  fo rward ,  when d id  

L iebher r  announce tha t  i t  has  been  successfu l?  

MR HOLDEN:    On the  17  February  2014 L iebher r  Cranes 

announced tha t  i t  had rece ived the  cont rac t  to  supp ly  the  

22  cranes to  Transnet  Por t  Termina ls  inc lud ing  the  18  

s ing le  l i f t  rubber  gant ry  c ranes and the  four  tw in  l i f t  sh ip  to  10 

shore  cranes.   Based on the  supp ly  we now concede tha t  

they won the  b id  on  the  bas is  o f  the  th i rd  request  fo r  

p roposa l  wh ich  was to  p rov ide  a l l  o f  the  necessary  c ranes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And then there  w i l l  a lso  be  an  

opt ion  to  ex tend the  18  and the  22  f rom what  you have sa id  

in  paragraph 73.  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    In  paragraph 76 you make the  

po in t  tha t  you cannot  ident i f y  obv ious i r regu lar i t ies  in  the 

award  o f  the  cont rac t  bu t  what  ev idence have you seen 20 

tha t  suggests  the  invo lvement  o f  the  Guptas?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.   On the  –  what  the  Gup ta  Leaks  

revea l  i s  tha t  on  the  21  December  2011 Ashu Chawla  sent  

an  emai l  to  P iyoosh Goya l  a t  h is  Wor lds  Window address  

w i th  i s  P iyoosh@Wor ldsWindow.cc  and a t tached  to tha t  
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emai l  was a  document  tha t  emanated f rom Transnet  in  

re la t ion  to  th is  pa r t i cu la r  p rocu rement .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can I  then ask  you to  go  to   

page 431?  I s  tha t  the  emai l  to  wh ich  you a re  re fer r i ng?  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can you s i tua te  tha t  aga in  

fo r  the  Cha i r  in  the  ch rono logy o f  the  tender?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  tha t  wou ld  be  rough ly  n ine  

months  subsequent  to  the  f i rs t  adver t i sement  o f  the 

request  fo r  p roposa l .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    No,  I  am a f ra id  i t  i s  no t .  

MR HOLDEN:    I  am confus ing  February  2014 and February  

2011.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    So  i f  you  go back to  your  

parag raph 73 you w i l l  see  when the  RFP was adver t i sed,  

203.  

MR HOLDEN:    Apo log ies  fo r  tha t  confus ion .   I t  i s  

adver t i sed on the  4  December  2011.   So we have the  emai l  

be ing  sent  17  days a f te r  the  adver t i sement  o f  the  tender.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can I  then take  you to  page 432 20 

and is  th i s  the  a t tachment  tha t  wen t  w i th  the  emai l?  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And i f  you go down the  

document  i s  there  anyth ing  in  par t i cu la r  tha t  wou ld  be  

s ign i f i can t  about  –  tha t  you can  po in t  to  tha t  wou ld  be  
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s ign i f i can t  about  th is  document  g iven tha t  i t  was be ing  

leaked to  the  Gup tas  wh i le  the  tender  was pend ing?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly.   What  we have here  is  a  

memorandum tha t  i s  sent  f rom Mr  Denzy l  P i l lay  who was 

the  execut ive  manager  o f  cap i ta l  p rocu rement  a t  Transnet  

to  a  Mr  Kar l  Soc i kwa.   I  am a f ra id  I  am not  en t i re ly  cer ta in  

o f  the  pronunc ia t ion  o f  h is  name who was the  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  o f  Transnet  Por t  Termina ls . .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Soc ikwa.  

MR HOLDEN:    Soc i kwa.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Soc ikwa.   Yes,  you got  i t  r igh t ,  Soc i kwa,  

ja .  

MR HOLDEN:    And what  th is  does is  p rov ide  the  

memorandum …[ in tervenes]  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Sor ry,  i f  I  m igh t  in te rvene here ,  

Cha i r,  the  Commiss ion  is  invest iga t ing  how th is  leaked but  

in  fa i rness to  Mr  P i l lay  and Mr  Soc ikwa,  we have our  

susp ic ions bu t  our  susp ic ions do  not  re la te  to  e i ther  o f  

them and I  jus t  wanted to  pu t  tha t  on  reco rd .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    I  do  no t  want  them to  be  

assoc ia ted  w i th  the  leak.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR HOLDEN:    And what  the  memorandum does,  Cha i r,  i s  

p rov ide  a  background and a  s ta tus  update  on  th i s  
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par t i cu la r  request  fo r  p roposa l  and i t  p rov ides in  the  

background a  desc r ip t ion  o f  the  way in  wh ich  the  tender  

was in i t ia ted  and fo r  what  reason and then the  page  

thereaf te r  on  433 we can see there  is  a  summary o f  

m i les tones in  tha t  tab le  wh ich  prov ides a  ve ry  c lea r  

gu ide l ine  to  what  Transnet  Por t  Termina ls  w i l l  be  do ing  a t  

d i f fe ren t  s tages o f  the  tender  p rocess wh ich  I  wou ld  submi t  

wou ld  be  a  very  usefu l  –  i t  i s  a  very  usefu l  knowledge fo r  a  

po ten t ia l  b idder  and there  is  a lso  very  impor tan t ly  a t  

parag raph 8  there  is  the  head ing  Budget  Imp l ica t ions wh ich  10 

prov ides the  to ta l  budget  fo r  the  tender  and the  approved  

budget  fo r  the  tender  was R1.090 b i l l i on .    

 I f  I  may add,  Cha i r,  tha t  jus t  in  fu r ther  cor robora t ion  

o f  the  Gupta  leaks and the  t im ing  o f  the  emai l  we can we  

see tha t  in  the  summary o f  m i les tones document  the  4 

December  en t ry  as  adver t i sed i n  the  med ia  says comple te .   

So c lea r ly  i t  has  been drawn subsequent  to  tha t  da te .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    You ’ve  ment ioned ear l ie r  tha t  

L iebher r  was successfu l  and what  you descr ibe  in  your  

repor t  i s  a  ser ies  o f  payments  tha t  L iebher r  made to  Gupta  20 

–  a  Gupta  company in  Duba i ,  Accura te  Investments .   I  

unders tand tha t ’s  no t  cont ro  –  tha t  VAT is  no t  

cont rovers ia l ,  L iebher r  had pub l i ca l l y  admi t ted  tha t .   Can 

you descr ibe  the  sources tha t  you have to  ident i f y  what  the  

amount  o f  the  payments  tha t  were  made? 



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 69 of 130 
 

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly  so  the  f i rs t  sou rce  is  a  source  

tha t  we re fer red  to  in  our  –  in  my tes t imony yesterday  

wh ich  was the  UAE ledgers  wh ich  in  tha t  ins tance  ran  up  

unt i l  the  ear ly  par t  o f  2014 and there  a re  –  there ’s  one  

notab le  payment  tha t  comes in  f rom L iebher r  in  those  

le t te rs .   I  shou ld  have ment ioned,  I  am sure  we w i l l  come 

to  the  ind iv idua l  f i l es ,  the  numbers  tha t  ledger  en t ry  i s  then 

cor robora ted  by  another  document  tha t  was found  w i th in  

the  Gupta  leaks wh ich  is  a  s ta tement ,  a  bank s ta tement  o r  

a t  leas t  a  t ransact ion  record  fo r  Accura te  Investments  and 10 

i t  was be ing  d i s t r ibu ted  amongst  Gupta  Ente rpr i se  s ta f f .   

The second document  i s  a  con t inuat ion  o f  the  Duba i  

ledgers ,  I  am not  sure  i f  you  reca l l  bu t  yes te rday we 

d iscussed how in  February  2014 Ash i to la  wro te  to  San jay  

Grover  and prov ided h im an Exce l  sp readsheet  and sa id  

p lease can you  update  these ledgers  in  th is  par t i cu la r  

fo rmat  hereon,  and on a  re la t i ve  regu lar  bas is  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Cha i r  i f  I  m igh t  jus t  in te r jec t  

there  tha t  was the  document  tha t  appeared a t  f low o f  funds 20 

vo lume 5 ,  page 718,  and then w i th  718.1  to  718.5 ,  wh ich  

had a lmost  empty  templa te  ledgers  fo r  each o f  the  Duba i  

based compan ies  and a  cash ledger  as  we l l .    

MR  HOLDEN:  The task  tha t  they then pe r fo rmed  was to  

take  eve ryone o f  the  updates  tha t  was sent  by  San jay  
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Grover  over  tha t  per iod  o f  t ime,  the  f ina l  one was  sent  in  

December  2014,  and to  t ake  a l l  o f  those ent r ies  and put  

them in to  a  s ing le  spreadshee t  so  we have  a  fu l l  

account ing  o f  a l l  the  t ransact ions  fo r  G loba l  Corpora t ion ,  

fo r  Accura te  I nvestments ,  fo r  F ide l i t y  and  Globa l  

Corpora t ion  over  the  per iod  o f  February  2014 unt i l  rough ly  

the  26 t h  o f  December  2014.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can I  ask  you to  go  to  page 439,  

Annexure  O,  i s  tha t  the  conso l ida ted  ledgers  tha t  you have 

genera ted  f rom a l l  o f  these regu lar  ledgers  tha t  are  sent  10 

f rom San jay  Grover  to  Ashu Chawla .  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r,  I  a t tached i t  as  

Annexure  O to  my s ta tement .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    So  tha t  i s  no t  a  document  tha t  i s  

on  Gupta  Leaks bu t  what  i t  i s ,  i s  i t  conso l ida tes  a l l  o f  the 

in fo rmat ion  in  the  ledgers  tha t  a re  sent  on  a  regu lar  bas is  

on  Gupta  Leaks in to  one conso l ida ted  se t  o f  ledgers  fo r  a  

per iod ,  how long does th is  per iod  run?  

MR HOLDEN:    I t  runs f rom rough ly  m id-February,  17 t h  o f  

February  t i l l  the  end o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Which  year?  

MR HOLDEN:    17 t h  o f  February  2014 unt i l  the  end o f  year,  

rough ly  26 t h  o f  December  I  th ink  i s  the  f ina l  payment  tha t  I  

can see 2014.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And Cha i r  jus t  to  no te  th is  i s  one 
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o f  the  annexures  where  we are  go ing  to  have to  rep r in t  

them because they were  pr in ted  w i th  marg ins  tha t  a re  too  

nar row so  some o f  the  f igures  don ’ t  show in  the  ce l l s ,  they  

jus t  show so r t  o f  XXX because they a re  too  w ide  fo r  the 

ce l l s .  

 You ta lked about  the  ledgers  we d i scussed 

yesterday,  you have now d iscussed th is  Annexure  O,  what  

o ther  sources have you used  in  re la t ion  to  your  

examinat ion  o f  the  L iebher r  payments?  

MR HOLDEN:    We a l so  I  am sure  you must  remember  10 

Cha i r  yes terday I  descr ibed another  Exce l  sp readsheet  tha t  

I  c rea ted  wh ich  was to  take  the  runn ing  to ta l s  in  a l l  the 

bank ba lances fo r  G loba l ,  Accura te ,  F ide l i t y  and so  on  and  

put  them in to  a  s ing le  spreadsheet  so  we can proper ly  

ver i f y  tha t  the  amounts  tha t  a re  be ing  pa id  in to  the  account  

and be ing  d i spe rsed outwards weren ’ t  co-ming led  w i th  

o ther  funds and i t  p roper l y  desc r ibes the  f low o f  funds.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can I  jus t  g ive  the  re ference 

tha t  i s  Annexure  A in  Bund le  5  a t  page 113.   And Mr  Ho lden  

you a lso  re fe r  and he re  we w i l l  have an annexure  p rob lem,  20 

to  Annexure  N to  your  repor t  on  the  Transnet  funds.   I f  you  

–  i f  you  go to  your  s ta tement  a t  page –  sor ry  your  repor t  a t  

page 204 can you  exp la in  to  the  Cha i r  what  Annexure  N is?  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in l y  the  annexure  wh ich  I  am a f ra id  i s  

no t  p roduced as  an  annexure  in  here ,  i s  a  se t  o f  bank 
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s ta tements  tha t  had been removed f rom the  or ig ina l  bank  

s ta tement  fo rmat  and put  in to  an  Exce l  spreadsheet  and  

tha t  had been sent  by Jessemine Cook to  a  Sahara  employ  

to  Ashu Chawla  and have prov ided a  very  br ie f  w indow o f  

bank s ta tements  re la ted  to  G loba l ,  Accura te ,  F ide l i t y  and 

Gateway.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And i f  you go to  page 435 you  

w i l l  see  what  i s  par t  o f  Annexure  N but  un for tunate ly  

doesn ’ t  inc lude Accura te  wh ich  i s  the  company tha t  we 

need to  re fer  to  today,  bu t  you w i l l  have the  – you w i l l  have  10 

in  due course  we  w i l l  ge t  the  I  th ink  i t  i s  jus t  l i t e ra l l y  one  

page tha t  we need to  add here  in  re la t ion  to  Accura te  

Investments .   I f  we need to  re fer  to  i t  today Mr  Ho lden has  

the  document  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  thought  there  was one re fe rence to  

Accura te  on  page 435.   Where  you ta lk  about  page 435  

where  you are  say ing  there  is  no  re ference to  Accura te ,  

we l l  I  see  B /O Accura te .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Oh yes ,  th is  i s  a  t ransfe r  ou t  o f  

Gateway in to  Accura te ,  I  th ink  i t  i s  ou t  o f  Gateway in to  20 

Accura te .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Bu t  the  Accura te  –  so  the  host  

company fo r  th is  spreadsheet  wou ld  I  th ink  be  Gateway,  

what  we are  m iss ing  is  the  one fo r  Accura te  bu t  we w i l l  add 
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i t  and to  the  ex ten t  tha t  we have to  re fe r  to  i t  today  we can 

put  i t  up  on  the  screen.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And Mr  Ho lden  there  is  one las t  

document  in  the  Gupta  Leaks tha t  you re fer  to  a t  page 206  

o f  you r  s ta tement ,  can you te l l  the  Cha i r  about  tha t  one? 

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in l y  Cha i r  i f  I  may get  the  exact  fac ts  

r igh t  be fore  I  pu t  i t  in to  the  record .    There  is  an  emai l  tha t  

i s  sent  f rom –  we l l  the  Gupta  Leaks revea l  Cha i r  tha t  an  

emai l  sent  f rom Veron ica  Radewaan f rom Oakbay emai l  10 

address to  Ashu  Chawla ’s  Sahara  emai l  address  on  the  

14 t h  o f  February  2015.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you are  look ing  a t  what   page?  

MR HOLDEN:  206.  

CHAIRPERSON:    206?  

MR HOLDEN:   Yes o f  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .    Yes cont inue.  

MR HOLDEN:   A t  paragraph 84  and 85 a t tached to  the  

emai l  was an  Exce l  spreadsheet  tha t  was t i t led  

IS12.02.15.x lsx ,  x lsx  be ing  the  f i le  fo rmat  name fo r  an 20 

Exce l  sp readsheet  I  th ink  12 .02.15 is  p re t ty  exp lanatory,  

tha t  means the  12 t h  o f  May 2015.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    February,  12 t h  o f  February.  

MR HOLDEN:    12 t h  o f  February  2015,  apo log ies ,  and the  

IS  I  specu la te  a l though I  cannot  en t i re ly  conf i rm may have 
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re fe r red  to  Income Sheet  o r  Income Sta tement .   The Exce l  

spreadsheet  i t se l f  wh ich  we may want  to  tu rn  to  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    In  due course ,  you have  ac tua l l y  

ex t rac ted  the  re levant  re fe rence there ,  un for tunate l y  th is  i s  

another  document  tha t  went  m iss ing  f rom the  annexures.    

MR HOLDEN:    What  the  spreadsheet  ind ica ted  was tha t  i t  

was –  a t  the  top  le f t  corner  o f  the  spreadsheet  i t  ind ica ted  

there  was an income s ta tement .   Sad ly  the  document  i s  

p re t ty  d i f f i cu l t  to  dec ipher  and I  have to  admi t  tha t  I  wasn ’ t  10 

en t i re l y  comfor tab le  re l y ing  on  the  f igures  there in  w i thout  

be ing  ab le  to  fu l l y  unders tand exact ly  how they were  

der i ved but  wha t  was not iceab le  was tha t  there  was a  

s ing le  en t ry  in  the  Exce l  sp readsheet  wh ich  appears  

aga ins t  an  in te rna l  Gupta  Enterpr ise  account  number  o f  

LCC001 and i t  reads:  

“o the r  income l ieber ”  

And i t  then  inc ludes th ree  d i f fe ren t  f igures  next  to  i t  o f  

11 .888,956 and then 4 .125 350.78mi l l ion  and then  a  th i rd  

f igure .   I t  appears  f rom the  –  to  the  le f t  o f  tha t  there ’s  a l so  20 

an A tha t  i s  ind ica ted  there ,  i f  you  look a t  the  or ig ina l  

spreadsheet  wh ich  was a t  a  d i f fe ren t  s tage perhaps tha t  A 

fa l l s  under  a  head ing  ca l led  company,  so  I  th ink  we can 

re la t i ve ly  sa fe ly  assume tha t  means accura te  in  re la t ion  to  

th is  par t i cu la r  income s ta tement .  
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 Sad ly  I  am not  en t i re ly  su re  what  denominat ion  the  

f igures  are  l i s ted  there  re fer  to  and a l so  I  am a f ra id  I  

cannot  te l l  f rom th is  s ta tement  the  re la t ionsh ip  be tween  

those th ree  f igures .   I  th ink  one in te rp re ta t ion  m ight  be  –  

and I  must  say  th is  i s  very  much  a  m ight  be ,  i s  tha t  the  

f i rs t  f igure  o f  11 .888mi l l ion  may be a  re f lec t ion  o f  th is  i s  a  

to ta l  aggregate  f igure  tha t  had been pa id  in  to  Accura te  

Investments  by  L iebher r  o r  was ant ic ipa ted  to  be  pa id  in  by  

L iebher r  e i ther  in  Durham o r  in  Do l la rs .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Bu t  we can es tab l i sh  I  mean 10 

tha t ’s  some specu la t ion  bu t  there  is  very  c lea r  ev idence o f  

what  amounts  were  pa id  in  de f in i te ly  be fore  th is  pe r iod .  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And have you got  an  aggregate  

f igure?  

MR HOLDEN:   I  do ,  I  may need  to  consu l t  a  no te  very  

qu ick l y  i f  tha t  i s  okay.   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    You can  do tha t .  

MR HOLDEN:    Apo log ies  fo r  tak ing  t ime to loca te  tha t ,  the 

to ta l  aggregate  f igure  tha t  I  am ab le  to  ex t rac t  Cha i r  i s  an  20 

amount  o f  3  232 430,88 do l la rs  wh ich  was pa id  to  Accura te  

Investments ,  I  d id  a  very  s imp le  ca lcu la t ion  a t  today ’s  spot  

exchange ra te  and tha t  equa ls  R49 381 200.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And what  we are  now go ing  to  do  

is  we are  go ing  to  look  a t  each one o f  those payments  tha t  
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we can es tab l i sh  and we are  a lso  go ing  to  see what  

happened to  tha t  money.   So can  I  ask  you f i rs t  o f  a l l  to  

tu rn  to  page –  le t ’s  s ta r t  a t  page 206 a t  the  bo t tom o f  206 

where  you ta lk  about  the  f i rs t  payment .  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in l y  we see in  to ta l  I  am ab le  to  t rack  

f i ve  payment  t ranches f rom L iebher r  over  a  per iod  o f  t ime.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can I  jus t  emphas ize  those f i ve  

do  not  inc lude  th is  sor t  o f  cryp t ic  re fe rence  in  the  

spreadsheet  o f  7  February  2015?  

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  co r rec t .  10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    So  whatever  these f i ve  payments  

are  in  add i t ion  to  whatever  tha t  may mean? 

MR HOLDEN:    That  i s  cor rec t .   And the  f i rs t  t ranche tha t  

we can t race  was  a  amount  o f  905  088 and I  do  –  t ha t  was  

pa id  on  the  22n d  o f  Ju ly  2013 in to  Accura te  Investments  US 

do l la r  account  a t  S tandard  Char te red Bank.   I  can  re fer  to  

the  –  I  have prepared the  en t ry  i n  the  Exce l  spreadsheet  

where  I  can re fer  to  tha t ,  I  have a lso  prepared v isua l i sa t ion  

what  happens to  those par t i cu la r  payments .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Wel l  maybe le t ’s  s ta r t  w i th  the  20 

v isua l i sa t ions wh ich  are  easy,  the  d iag rams and I  th ink  th is  

d iag ram is  a t  page 1101.   So Cha i r  I  ask  tha t  you go to  

1101.   I t  i s  11  –  yes i t  i s  1101.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And Mr  Ho lden can you  
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. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  I  am sor ry,  1101 is  a  

d iag ram,  oh  no where  I  am is  no t  1101,  i t  i s  1011 ,  le t  me 

t ry  and f ind  1101.   Yes I  found i t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And I  th ink  fo r  these d iagrams 

we shou ld  probab ly  t ry  and source  the  ledger  re fe rences to  

each o f  these cash movements  i f  you  are  ab le  to  do  so  now 

we may have to  make some notes  over  lunch i f  there  are  

any gaps but  can  you take  the  Cha i r  th rough what  you see  

a t  1101 or  what  you have produced  a t  1101.  10 

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly  Cha i r.   Th is  i s  a  –  the  

v is iona l i sa t ion  fo l lows very  much the  same fo rmat  as  the  

v is iona l i sa t ions I  used in  re la t ion  to  Est ina ,  aga in  the  

green box is  t he  beg inn ing  po in t ,  the  en t ry  o f  funds,  and  

then a t  the  bo t tom we have red  boxes wh ich  ind i ca te  the  

ou t  po in ts  where  those funds even tua l l y  emerge,  and what  

we have he re  the  f i rs t  payment  i s  made by  L iebher r  to  

Accura te ’s  S tandard  Char te red bank account ,  US  do l la rs  

a re  nominated,  account  on  the  22n d  o f  Ju l y  2013 and tha t  i s  

fo r  an  amount  o f  905 000 do l la rs  and 88 cents ,  I  shou ld  20 

note  obv ious ly  tha t  the  t im ing  o f  th is  payment  i s  no tab le  in  

re la t ion  to  the  t ime l ine  o f  the  chrono logy o f  the  award  o f  

the  tender  as  th is  was s t i l l  wh i le  the  tender  hadn ’ t  been 

announced.   The  tender  i s  on ly  announced the  fo l low ing  

year  in  February.  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can I  ask  you,  so  tha t  i s  

905 000 do l la rs  and 88 cents  and you have i t  in  the  

S tandard  Char te red Bank.   Can I  ask  you to  go  f low o f  

funds bund le  5 ,  and tu rn  to  page 354.  

CHAIRPERSON:    He i s  jus t  t r y ing  to  f ind  the  page fo r  me,  

i t  was 354?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    I t  i s  354 Cha i r  and Cha i r  i f  you  

can hang on to  tha t  f i l e  open  roundabout  tha t  page  

because we are  go ing  to  be  f l ipp ing  backwards and 

fo rwards a  few pages as  we go th rough L iebher r,  bu t  can  10 

you ident i f y  th is  payment  by  L iebher r  in to  the  Standard  

Char te red accoun t  o f  Accura te ,  o r  f i rs t  what  a re  we look ing  

a t ,  a t  page 354.  

MR HOLDEN:   Cer ta in ly,  th is  i s  the  UAE ledger  tha t  was  

compi led  by  amongst  o the rs  San jay  Grover  and  sent  to  

Tony Gupta .   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can you f ind  the  L iebher r  

payment  on  tha t  le t te r  and maybe put  i t  up  on  the  screen? 

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  so  I  have a l ready iden t i f ied  i t  

here  on  screen,  i t  i s  s l igh t ly  eas ie r  to  read than the  very  20 

smal l  tex t  in  the  annexure ,  what  we see here  a t  row 157 i s  

the  pr imary  par ty  i s  Accura te  Investments ,  the  da te  i s  the  

22 n d  o f  Ju l y  2013 ,  and the  counter  par ty  i s  L iebher r  and i f  I  

was to  scro l l  fu r ther  to  the  r i gh t  we see the  input  amount  

as  a  pos i t i ve  en t ry  in to  the  US Do l la r  S tandard  Char te red  
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Bank account  o f  905 000 and e igh ty  e igh t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Thank you fo r  tha t .   Can I  ask  

you,  I  re fe r red ,  I  ment ioned when we were  d i scuss ing  

Annexure  N tha t  we hadn ’ t  added the  tab  fo r  Accura te  

Investments .   Can I  ask  tha t ,  we w i l l  add tha t  p robab ly  on l y  

a t  the  end o f  the  day bu t  can I  ask  you to  ca l l  up  the  tab  

fo r  Accura te  Investments  on  the  cor rec t ,  the  fu l l  vers ion  o f  

Annexure  N.  

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in l y  Cha i r  I  w i l l  do  so  in  shor t  o rde r.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And jus t  to  –  wh i le  you a re  do ing  10 

tha t ,  i f  you  can mul t i task  i f  you  can jus t  remind the  Cha i r  

what  Annexure  N was or  i s .  

MR HOLDEN:    Apo log ies  Cha i r,  I  d id  ex t rac t  i t  th is  

morn ing  and sen t  i t  to  my ev idence leader  and fo r  some 

reason I  can ’ t  seem to  loca te  i t  now.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Maybe we w i l l  come back to  th is  

one a f te r  the  lunch break and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR HOLDEN:    Yes i f  we cou ld  tha t  wou ld  be  he lp fu l .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Okay  le t  us  go  back  to  the  

d iag ram o f  where  th is  money went .    20 

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  we now mov ing  to  the  o ther  bund le?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Sorry  Cha i r  we a re ,  Bund le  6  

and . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you sa id  I  must  keep th is  o ther  one  

c lose.  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Keep tha t  one c lose  because 

each t ime we are  go ing  to  want  to  au thent ica te  the  

payments  we are  d iscuss ing  we a re  go ing  to  have to  re fer  

to  those ledgers ,  and i f  we go to  1101 –  oh  you are  a t  

1101.   The d iag ram . . . [ ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  1101 o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Of  Bund le  6  Cha i r  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am a lways th ink ing  about  the  

t ranscr ip t ,  ja  okay.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And can you take  the  Cha i r  10 

th rough th is  p rocess tha t  we see a t  1101? 

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly  Cha i r  as  I  pu t  up  on  the  screen 

a f te r  the  905 000 has been depos i ted  in to  Accura te 

S tandard  Char te r  Bank account  we have th ree  t ransfers  

ou t ,  the  f i rs t  t ransfer  i s  made on the  same day,  i t  is  

rece ived f rom L iebher r,  tha t  i s  an  amount  o f  700 000  

do l la rs  and tha t  i s  pa id  f rom Accura te  S tandard  Char te r  

Bank account  in to  G loba l  Corpora t ions S tandard  Char te r  

Bank account  in  US Do l la r  denominat ion  and i t  i s  pa id  on  

the  22 n d  o f  Ju ly  2013.   There  i s  an  amount  o f  130 000  20 

do l la rs  tha t  i s  t ransfe r red  on the  23 r d  o f  Ju l y  2013,  and tha t  

i s  pa id  ou t  to  G loba l  Corpora t ion  S tandard  Char te r  Bank  

US do l la r  account  and then a  f ina l  payment  o f  60  000  

do l la rs  a lso  on  the  23 r d  o f  Ju ly  2013,  made fo rm Accura te ’s  

S tandard  Char te red Bank in to  G loba l  S tandard  Bank  
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account .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Can I  ask  tha t  we then go back 

to  354 o f  f low o f  funds bund le  5  jus t  to  ident i f y  those th ree  

t ransact ions.   And maybe Cha i r  –  ja  sor ry,  ja  I  th ink  we are  

go ing  to  have to  jus t  move backwards and fo rwards  

be tween the  two bund les .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  thought  I  had kept  tha t  o ther  page,  as  

you have sa id  on  Bund le  5  bu t  you can jus t  remind me 

wh ich  page we are  go ing  to  on  Bund le  5?   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    354 Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    So  Mr  Ho lden can you take  the  

Cha i r  to  those th ree  t ransact ions you have jus t  desc r ibed,  

the  700 000,  the  130 000 and the  60  000.    

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in l y  Cha i r  so  as  I  b rough t  up  the 

sc reen here ,  i t  m igh t  be  h igh l igh ted  on your  Exce l  

spreadsheet  in  red .   The f i rs t  t ransact ion  takes p lace a t  

Eurogrow 139,  the  f i rs t  par ty  i s  Accura te ,  the  pr imary  pa r ty  

the  da te  i s  the  22n d  o f  Ju ly  2013 and the  re ference here  is  

GCL/SCD which  s tands fo r  G loba l  Corpora t ion  L im i ted  20 

S tandard  Char te red Bank and i f  we are  to  scro l l  fu r ther  to  

the  r igh t  here ,  we see a  neg l i  –  R700 000 do l la rs  in  

b rackets  wh ich  means i t  i s  pa id  ou t .   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    And the  130 and the  60?  

MR HOLDEN:    That  occur red ,  the  130 000 you can  f ind  a t  
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row 140 the  p r imary  par tne r,  the  pr imary  company,  

apo log ies ,  i s  accura te .   The date  i s  the  23 r d  o f  Ju l y  2013,  

and the  counterpar ty  i s  G loba l  Corpora t ion  LLC and i t  i s  

the  r igh t  year,  we the  US Do l l a r  under  the  US Do l la r  

S tandard  Char te red Bank row we  have 130 000 Do l la rs  

pa id  ou t  wh ich  is  why i t  i s  in  b rackets  and as  you can see  

be low th is  i s  the  counterpar ty  record  in  the  doub le  en t ry  

bookkeep ing  wh ich  w i l l  show tha t  same t ransac t ion  bu t  

f rom Globa l ’s  perspect ive .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I  th ink  we are  on  d i f fe ren t  10 

documents ,  354 i s  the  –  354 is  the  ve rs ion  o f  the  ledgers  

tha t ’s  been o rgan ised by  company.   

MR HOLDEN:    No tha t  i s  no t  cor rec t .   So in  my 

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  page 354 is  ledger  1 .2 ,  Annexure  number  

page 10.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:     Yes.    

MR HOLDEN:    And the  prescr ip t ion ,  the  t ransac t ions I  

have jus t  descr ibed . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    So  i f  you  look a t  the  le f t  o f  that  

co lumn a l l  o f  the  compan ies  are  accura te?   So you are  no t  20 

go ing  to  see the  doub le  en t ry.  

MR HOLDEN:    You are  qu i te  r igh t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Le t ’s  do  i t  on  th i s  document  

because where  I  have got  my re fe rences we can go to  the  

doub le  en t ry  re fe rence a f te r  lunch.   So you have dea l t  w i th  
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130 000 and the  60  000.  

MR HOLDEN:    So  there  was a  60  000,  we can see here  on  

my sp readsheet  as  row 142,  the  da te  i s  the  23 r d  o f  Ju ly  

2013,  the  counterpar ty  i s  aga in  G loba l  Corpora t ion  LLC 

and i f  we scro l l  over  to  the  r igh t  we see 60 000 in  

b rackets ,  wh ich  i s  a  negat ive  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  so  a  payment  

ou t ,  and then a  payment  in  to  the  counterpa r ty  t ransact ion  

o f  60  000 tha t  i s  they pa id  to  –  f rom Globa l ’s  perspect ive .    

I t  m igh t  a lso  be  wor thwhi le  to  ment ion  tha t  in  –  look  a t  

Annexure  O,  the  or ig ina l  Est ina  bund le ,  the  spreadsheet  10 

tha t  I  c rea ted  showing runn ing  to ta ls  i f  we were  to  look  a t  

tha t  we wou ld  see tha t  p r io r  to  the  depos i t  by  L iebher r  in to  

Accura te  Investments  the re  is  an  incred ib ly  smal l  ba lance,  

such tha t  these t ransfers  cou ld  on ly  have been funded by  

the  payment  f rom L iebher r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    That  wou ld  be  Annexure  A on the  

funds bund le  5 ,  i f  you  can do tha t  re la t i ve ly  eas i l y  w i l l  you 

take  us  there ,  I  don ’ t  have a  re ference,  so  I  am go ing  to  be  

dependent  on  you  there .    

MR HOLDEN:    So  I  have p roduced tha t  up  on  screen here  20 

and I  rea l i sed tha t  I  have prepared  th is  morn ing ’s  ev idence 

on the  bas i s  o f  th is  par t i cu la r  sp readsheet ,  wh ich  i s  why I  

h igh l igh ted  cer ta in  th ings.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Wel l  maybe i f  I  can  g ive  you the  

re ference,  because I  have now found i t ,  i t  i s  113,  113 Cha i r  
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o f  F low- funds Bund le  5 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And can  you take  us  to  t he  po in t  

tha t  you want  to  make about  what  the  L iebher r  payment  

does to  the  Accura te  ba lance.   

MR HOLDEN:    Cer ta in ly,  so  as  we see on  here  I  

acknowledge tha t  Annexure  A is  very  d i f f i cu l t  to  read on 

paper,  bu t  i f  we were  to  look  a t  the  screen and sc ro l l  over  

to  the  r igh t  here  we see p r io r  to  the  depos i t  tha t  is  made  

by  L iebher r  the re  is  a  ba lance o f  815 do l la rs  and twenty  10 

one in  tha t  account  and tha t  increases the  payment  f rom 

L iebher r  the  increases the  ba lance to  jus t  over  905 000 

and tha t  then f inances,  tha t  700 –  so  tha t  900 000 is  then 

d iss ipa ted  by  the  700 000 do l la r  t ransact ion  on  the  ce l l  I  

have h igh l igh ted ,  the  130 000 do l la r  t ransact ion  and the  

60  000 do l la r  t ransact ion  you can  see a f te r  those amounts  

have been d iss ipa ted  an amount  o f  on ly  15  000 do l la rs  i s  

le f t  in  the  S tandard  Char te r  Bank account  fo r  Accura te  

Investments .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:    Thank you Mr  Ho lden,  can you 20 

take  us  to  the money when i t  lands in Global? 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly Chai r.   So the f i rst  st ream and now 

referr ing back to the diagram.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Sorry what page is that? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   1101.   I t  make – Chai r  what is  
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probably going to  be the simplest  way of  deal ing wi th th is is 

for you to take out  1101.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Which wi l l  a lways stay the same.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And then maybe annotate or again 

do not  bother to annotate because we wi l l  – we wi l l  take you 

through these references.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Because these are important  10 

references to go through.  

CHAIRPERSON . :   101? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Transact ion by t ransact ion.   1101 – 

1101.  

CHAIRPERSON:   1101.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   1101.   But  again just  l ike we 

promised yesterday we wi l l  get  Est ina diagrams that  are ful ly  

reference we wi l l  do the same with these.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Accurate diagrams. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   1101 is on the other bundle? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Bundle 6 – 6.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And then i f  you keep 5 open whi le 

you have 1101 as a separate page we wi l l  be able to t rack 
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each step on 1101 through the ledgers in 5.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   This part icular lever arch is qu i te  

fu l l  so i f  you want to take out  a page that  is towards the end 

i t  is  qui te di ff icul t .   Now in page – in  Bundle 5 what was i t  

534 that  you suggested I  should keep open more? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I  th ink Mr Holden and I  made our  

notes on separate documents.   I  th ink he is  going to be here 

around about page 114 for the consol idated annexure A.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   So that  is the page I  should… 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   114 Chai r  yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   114 okay.   Yes okay al r ight .   Okay so that  

part icular one we said is 1103 that  one on the screen? 

MR HOLDEN:   I t  is 1101 as far as I  recal l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   1101 okay.   Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And Chair  in fact  i t  is go ing to be 

115 not  114 of  Bundle 5.  

CHAIRPERSON:   115.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   115.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Okay I  have got  115.   Okay but  r ight  

now we are going onto that  one or we are moving away f rom 20 

that  one?  We are going to that  one.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Wel l  we are going to see each 

t ransact ion on this diagram as i t  ref lects in the ledger on 

page 115.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   Okay.   But  that  diagram is on 
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what  page? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   That  diagram is the loose page 

that  you have 1101.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh the loose – oh okay al r ight .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   From Bundle 6 not  f rom Bundle 5.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay I  have got  i t .   Ja.   Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   So Mr Holden we had seen that  the 

130 000 and 70 000 and 60 000 had moved f rom Accurate to  

Gateway.   Can we then – sorry Accurate to Global .   Can we 

see what happens to them in the ledgers – wel l  f i rst  can we 10 

pick that  up in the ledgers so that  we can see the other side 

of  the t ransact ion where in the books of  Global  as i t  were? 

MR HOLDEN:   The – you would l ike to  look at  the 

counterpart  t ransact ions? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   The counterpart  t ransact ions 

because i t  wi l l  a lso i f  we looking at  Global ’s books show us 

where the money moves out  there af ter.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you can I  ask you to remind me of  

the date.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   23 July 2013.  20 

MR HOLDEN:   So at  – at  annexure A we have a number of 

di fferent  t ransact ions ref lected here.   So the f i rst  one is at  

row 256 – the pr imary party is  Global ,  the date is the 22 July 

2013, the counterparty in Accurate or Accurate Investments 

and i f  we scro l l  to the r ight  here we see the R700 000.00 
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entry -  $700 000.00 apologies enter ing into the US Dol lar 

account of  Standard Chartered Bank for Global .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And the 130 and 60 whi le we are 

there are just  two below.  

MR HOLDEN:   That  is correct .   So we have 130 over  here 

and 60 over there as the counterparty t ransact ions ref lect ing 

they have been paid into the Global  account.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And then what happens to that  

money once i t  is in Global?  I  mean maybe you f i rst  te l l  us 

what i t  does to the balance of  Global? 10 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly.   I t  vast ly  increases the balance in 

Global  pr ior to the deposi t  of  $700 000.00 the bank account  

had $24 948.00 wi thin i t .   So the deposi t  of  $700 000.00 

increased the balance to $724 948.68.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And then the 130 and the – so you 

have ident i f ied 130 and the 60 can you go back to your 

diagram of  the t ranche and show where that  money goes 

f rom Global  on the diagram and then we wi l l  p ick i t  up in the 

ledger? 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly Chai r.   The f i rst  st ream is  paid out  20 

on the 22 July 2013 and i t  runs to the lef t  of  Global  Standard 

Chartered Banks box and that  is  $499 500.00 and i f  you 

scro l l  down to the bot tom that  is  paid to Sahara in South 

Afr ica.  And I  very quickly br ing up the counterparty the 

reference in the spread sheet  as wel l .  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Yes i f  you would? 

MR HOLDEN:   And then as we can see here on spread sheet  

at  row 257 Global  is the pr imary partner,  the date,  Sahara as 

the counterparty and the amount  being taken out  of  Global  of  

$499 500.00.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   So just  to take a step back what 

we are seeing is an amount pa id into a Gupta Company in 

Dubai  as a se l f -confessed payment in respect  of  the 

Transnet t ra ins con – cranes contract  which very quickly of  

which hal f  a mi l l ion dol lars very quickly is t ransferred to  10 

Sahara Computers.  

MR HOLDEN:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   So let  us look at  the next  payment 

out  but  let  us go to the diagram f i rs t  so that  we – we can plot  

i t  on the diagram. 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly.   Then we have a payment of  

$100 000.00 that  is made on the 23 July 2013 and that  is 

paid f rom Global  Standard Chartered Bank US Dol lar  

account into Gateway Standard Chartered Bank US Dol lar 

account.  20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And can we see that  on the ledger 

at  page 115? 

MR HOLDEN:   So we see here at  row 261 – have I  zoomed 

in enough for you Chair? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  can see there but  not  on –  
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MR HOLDEN:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Not  on … 

MR HOLDEN:   As long as i t  is legible on the screen.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  No,  no I  can see that  ja.  

MR HOLDEN:   So I  am af raid I  have just  lost  my place there.  

So a t  row 261 we can see the pr imary party is Global ,  the 

date is the 23 Ju ly 2013, the counterparty is Gateway SCB 

which is short  for Standard Chartered Bank and then we 

have a payment  out  here of  $100 000.00 f rom Global  

Standard Chartered Bank account and to pre-empt my 10 

evidence leader I  wi l l  then scrol l  up to the Gateway account  

and ident i fy the same t ransact ion which we can see here at  

row 110 pr imary party as Gateway the date is the 23 July 

2013 and the counterparty is Global  Corporat ion LLC and 

that  ref lects a $100 000.00 deposi t  into Gateway Standard 

Chartered Bank accounts which as we see f rom the column 

to the r ight  increases the balance in Gateway Standard 

Chartered Bank account f rom $372.39 to $100 372.39.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Chair  for  referencing purposes but 

you wi l l  get  that  later that  ent ry is  on page 113 the 20 

corresponding ent ry that  Mr Holden has just  taken us to.   I f  

we can go back to  the diagram again.  

MR HOLDEN:  Cer tainly.   So the day af ter that  amount  is paid 

into the Gateway Standard Chartered Bank account  of  that  

amount $93 378.61 is paid on the 24 July 2013 and that  is  
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paid to Star Engineering which again was the agent that  

provided the dai ry products – the dairy  equipment that  was 

used on the Est ina farm from India.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And again i f  I  might  stop here.   

What we are seeing is proceeds der ived f rom a Transnet  

contract  being used to fund some of  the very few dairy 

expenses that  actual ly were incurred in relat ion to the Est ina 

Dai ry Product  – Pro ject .  

MR HOLDEN:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Can we go to the next  ent ry on the 10 

diagram, the next  cash f low on the d iagram? 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly.   So returning further up the 

diagram heading out  to the r ight  f rom Global  Standard 

Chartered Banks accounts.   We have a t ransfer on the 23 

July 2013 of  620 000.00 Durham which is equivalent  to  

$168 845.32 and that  is now paid into Global  Standard 

Chartered Banks – Global ’s Standard Chartered Bank 

Durham denominated accounts over  here.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And can you f ind that  on the 

ledgers?  Chair  the reference wi l l  be page – oh no – I  am – 20 

yes the reference should be page 115 Chai r.  

MR HOLDEN:   I  am af raid I  have [00:12:13]  mysel f .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   You need to go two down.  

MR HOLDEN:   What is the date? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I f  you look – i f  you look i t  is 
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Standard Chartered AED.  

MR HOLDEN:   Oh that  is correct .   Thank you 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   That  is  where you want  to f ind 

that .  

MR HOLDEN:   Thank you.   So at  row 263 we can see the 

pr imary partner – pr imary companies Global ,  the date is the 

23 July 2013.   The part iculars are SCBAED which is short  for  

Standard Chartered Bank UAE Durham and i f  you scrol l  

further to the r ight  here we see 620 000 Durham enter ing 

into the Standard Chartered Bank Durham denominated 10 

account for Global .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And i f  we go back to the diagram 

to see the next  money f low.  

MR HOLDEN:   From there that  amount is wi thdrawn ent i re ly 

in cash.   So we have another  cash f i re break at  th is point .   

So 620 000 Durham is t ransferred on the 23 July 2013 – 

sorry i t  is wi thdrawn in cash on that  date.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And maybe go back to your ledger 

and go down a couple of  l ines and you wi l l  see that  620 000 

cash wi thdrawal.  20 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly.   So at  row 264 of  my annexure you 

wi l l  see again the pr imary partner – the pr imary company is 

Global ,  the date is the 23 July 2013 and i t  indicates cash 

wi thdrawal s l ight ly misspel t  and you can i t  there a minus 

amount – a negat ive integer of  [620 000]  Durham from the 
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Standard Chartered Bank account which is  then ref lected as 

a 620 000 Durham credi t  in cash going to Global .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Can we go back to the diagram 

and see the – before we see where the cash goes I  th ink we 

have to t rack one further payment f rom I  th ink – I  may not  

have kept  – go up a l ine.   I  th ink you have been t ravel l ing 

down one l ine but  not  the other.  

MR HOLDEN:   I  have been t ravel l ing down this l ine here.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Yes.   But  can we then t ravel  down 

the l ine on the far  r ight .  10 

MR HOLDEN:   Absolutely.   I t  might  actual ly make sense at  

th is point  because the cash… 

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Cash is going to co-mingle.  

MR HOLDEN:   The cash then goes out  there.  This amount  

the 620 000 goes out  there.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Okay can you take us to that? 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly.   So then what we see is on the 23 

July 2013 we see that  cash is then given to  Vikus and i t  says 

Vikus via JJT which is qui te an in terest ing ent ry.   Vikus I  

assume again was Vikus Chaturvedi  who was the Gupta 20 

Enterpr ise employee in India and JJT was the – is whol ly 

owned subsidiary of  the Worlds Window Group.  So what we 

seeing here is a – effect ively a cash deposi t  that  is  being 

paid to Vikus Chaturvedi  v ia one of  the Gupta Enterpr ises 

partners and money laundering JJT.  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And can I  just  stop there and 

maybe l ink this to the Hawala ledger that  we discussed 

yesterday.   How wi l l  th is sort  of  t ransact ion be covered in the 

Hawala ledger? 

MR HOLDEN:   Certainly Chai r.   The Hawals ledger would 

ref lect  – i t  would have a – on i ts lef t  most  column i t  would 

have the ind ividual  to whom the money is being paid or the 

account that  i t  is  being paid f rom and i t  would be ref lected 

ei ther as a negat ive or a posi t ive integer.   In th is  case i t  

most  l ikely be represented in – when i t  was coming into JJT 10 

as a negat ive integer because this is a Hawala ledger that  

has been draf ted f rom the point  of  v iew of  the Worlds 

Window Group and then when i t  is paid out  i t  is paid out  as a 

posi t ive integer.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Thanks.   Unfortunately  I  do not  

have my reference to the Hawala ledger to hand but  we wi l l  

probably f ind that  payment in the Hawala ledger.   Can you 

then f ind that  – let  us see i f  we can – wel l  let  me f ind the 

Hawala ledger and we wi l l  come back to = to that  af ter lunch 

which is in – oh there you have i t .   So this would be in your  20 

annexure O which is the combined dai ly or da i ly ledgers or 

no,  no.   Is that  –  is  that   -  that  was one of  the tabs on the 

spread sheet  that  was sent  to Tony Gupta? 

MR HOLDEN:   That  is correct .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Okay.  
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MR HOLDEN:   So this is – th is is  a – the cash sheet  that  

appears in that  – in the ledger that  is sent  to Tony Gupta and 

you can see here on the 23 July we see a matching amount 

and i t  says here JJT and then the amount here is  616 560.00 

Durham and then the descr ipt ion of  i t  or the explanat ion for 

i t  is  Vikus.   So clear ly  i t  is been funds being t ransferred via 

JJT to Vikus.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Can I  – Chair  can ask you – I  have 

now found the reference to that .   That  is Flow of  Funds 

Bundle 5 page 374 and there we wi l l  see the re levant  10 

payment.  

CHAIRPERSON:   374.   I  have got  374.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Right  there.   No I  have got  the 

wrong document Chai r.   I  am losing t rack of  al l  o f  these 

ledgers I  wi l l  – we wi l l  f ind that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   And i t  wi l l  –  we wi l l  reference i t  

and come back – I  th ink Mr Holden and I  probably need a 

lunch break too.  

[Speaking over one another] .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Holden has been feeding us al l  these 

f igures.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I  was more or less in control  up 

unt i l  about  ten minutes ago Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We are two minutes – three minutes to  one 
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o ’c lock.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I  th ink in fact  i t  would be two or  

three minutes useful ly spent .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I f  Mr Holden and I  can coordinate 

our references so that  we move quicker af ter lunch.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   I f  we take the lunch adjournment 

then Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no that  is f ine.   We wi l l  ad journ for 10 

lunch and resume at  two and maybe Mr Chaskalson you 

could see me in chambers immediate ly af ter the 

adjournment. .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC:   Certainly  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes we adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay let  us cont inue.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Thank you Chai r.   Mr Holden,  I  20 

undertook to aver t  to the Chair  wi th references in re lat ion to  

the diagram at  page 1101.  I  see you have i t  up there.   I  was 

going to ask you to put  i t  up there.   Chai r,  we have now done 

that  referencing exerc ise.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  
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ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And we were coming back to you 

wi th references on the r ight  hand side of  that  diagram.  So 

start ing wi th the 168 845,32 Dol lars.   I t  becomes 620 000 

Di rham that  goes into Global  Standard Chartered.   I t  is  the 

on – i t  is the f i rs t  t ranche coming down on the lef t .   Sorry.   

Not  on the lef t ,  on the r ight .  

CHAIRPERSON :    On the r ight ,  ja.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    On the r ight .   So i t  is  the lef t -hand 

arrow down on the r ight .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  into Global  . . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Global  Standard Chartered.   That  

is on page 349.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Page three. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And a l l  of  these references wi l l  

F low Funds Bundle 5.   The – immediate ly to the r ight ,  there 

is 104 015 740 Dol lars also coming down into Global  

Standard Chartered in Dirham.  That  is 345.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  that  is the page.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Same page, indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is in relat ion to. . .  20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So Chai r,  I  th ink Mr Holden wi l l  

just  highl ight  i t  on the screen.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So that  is the 115 730 Dol lars 

. . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    . . .converted into 425 000 Di rham.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   And that  is page? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    345.  

CHAIRPERSON :    345.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    A l l  of  these are in Bundle 5.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Not  Bundle 6.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Coming down f rom that  rectangle,  10 

there are two l ines both of  which we see at  page 349.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And then the 620 425 that  is  

turned into cash,  leads into a 425 000 cash deposi t  into 

Global  in the Nat ional  Bank of  Abu-Dhabi .   That  is  at  349.   

And. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on one second.   Let  me see on the 

screen.   That  is the one.   Okay.   And that  is page 349. 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    394.  

CHAIRPERSON :    349.   Okay.  20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And the other movement of  the 

cash was out  to  the r ight  and down to Vikus Fi re JJT.   And 

that  is at  345.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And also 342.   I t  is picked up 
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twice.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And the last  t ransact ion on this  

page that  we have not  yet  got  to,  was the payment coming 

down f rom the Global  Nat ional  Bank of  Abu-Dhabi ,  a 

payment of  475 620 Dirham into an ent i ty cal led Whizz Craf t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    That  is a t  349.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And Mr Holden,  can you explain 10 

who Whizz Craf t  are or were?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   Chai r,  Whizz Craf t  are an 

entertainment services company that  provided the Gupta 

enterpr ises wi th dances and other entertainment for the Sun 

City wedding.   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So then. . .   Wel l ,  th is payment in  

part icular.   We have. . .   Wel l ,  i t  is one of  severa l  payments.   

Maybe I  can. . .   I f  I  can ask you to go to Bundle 6,  page 467.   

Bundle 6.    20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Page 467? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    That  is correct .   And can you tel l  

the Chai r  what we see at  Bundle 6?  Oh, sorry 467.    

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   What we have here is an 

emai l  that  was ext racted f rom the Gupta leak records.   I t  was 
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at tached to as Annexure Q to my report .   I t  is an emai l  that  

is sent  f rom Johan Schalkwyk at  johan@vdmass.co.za(?).   

Sent  on Wednesday,  August  the 14 t h,  2013 to Ashu Chawla 

and also CC’d to another VD Mass emai l  address,  

denise@vdmass.co.za wi th the subject  Whizz Craf t .   And the 

subject  – the content  of  the emai l  reads:  

“Dear Mr Ashu.   At tached hereto the amended draf t  

as requested.   Yours fai thful ly,  Johan Schalkwyk.”  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And i f  you go over the page, is  

th is the at tachment that  was l inked to the emai l?  10 

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Page 468.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And I  do not  want you to read this 

whole document but  can you explain to the Chair  what  i t  is?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   I t  is a le t ter that  has been draf ted 

by Johan Schalkwyk in relat ion to a dispute around payment  

between the Gupta enterpr ise and Whizz Craf t .   There are 

disputes about the terms under which payments had been 

made for the entertainment services provided.    20 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can I  ask you to go to page 

469?  

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And there the wri ter l ists four 

payments that  were made to Whizz Craf t  in set t lement of  
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their  invoice.   How does that  l ink to the diagram that  we are 

looking at?  

MR HOLDEN :    So the fourth payment that  is l isted there of  

129 600 US Dol lars is  made on the 24t h of  July 2013.   That  is  

the same date as ref lected in the ledgers as being paid f rom 

Global ’s Nat ional  Bank of  Abu-Dhabi  account into Whizz 

Craf t ’s account of  475 000 Di rham.   And I  d id  a calculat ion 

on the exchange rate at  the t ime and that  amount of  Dirham 

almost  exact ly 129 600 US Dol lars.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Thank you.   That  concludes the 10 

f i rst  payment.   I f  we turn the page – i f  we go to the next  

diagram.  And Chai r,  that  is at  Bundle 6,  page 1102.   I t  is in  

fact  on the back of  the page that  you may have taken out .    

CHAIRPERSON :    The page number? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    1102 Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay ja.   That  is the one I  took out ,  ja.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can you take the Chai r  

through this diagram Mr Holden? 

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   Chai r,  we have – this diagram 

begins – i t  is a  relat ively st raight forward one.   Again,  wi th  20 

the green box.   I t  starts wi th a payment of  212 006,01 

Dol lars that  is t ransferred in on the 17t h of  February 2014.  

And i t  is a payment that  is made into Accurate Mashreq Bank 

account.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    What was signi f icant  about  
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17 February 2014?  

MR HOLDEN :    Chai r,  on the 17t h o f  February 2014,  that  was 

the same day that  Liebherr(?) announced that  they had won 

the cont ract  f rom Transnet.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And what happens to th is  

212 006,01 Dol lars once i t  lands in the Accurate Mashreq 

account?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly,  Chai r.   What happens in th is  

instance is that  i t  is comingled wi th funds f rom other 

sources.   Other sources that  I  have not  ent i re ly been able to  10 

determine the or ig in thereof .   But  effect ively,  i t  moves 

through Gupta enterpr ise companies,  l ike Unl imited 

Elect ronic Computer.    

 Eventual ly,  on the 25t h  of  February 2014, 450 000 

Dol lars is paid into Accurate Mashreq’s account where i t  

jo ined the 212 006,01 Dol lars f rom Liebherr.    

 And then on the same day wi th the account ba lance 

increased suff ic ient ly,  there is a payment of  599 327 Dol lars 

on the 25t h  of  February 2014 to L inkway Trading.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So once again,  what we have is a 20 

payment made by Liebherr in respect  of  a Transnet  contract  

that  ends up in the Gupta company in South Afr ica,  namely 

Linkwe(?).  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Chai r,  I  am – we are not  going 
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wi th references on these diagrams.   We wi l l  prov ide you wi th  

a fu l ly referenced set  of  d iagrams.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    The thi rd diagram, page 1103.   

And Chai r,  for that ,  you wi l l  have to  go back to Bundle 6.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Mr Holden,  ca you take us through 

that  diagram? 

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly,  Chai r.   Again,  i t  begins wi th the 

green go-box at  the top,  indicat ing Liebherr.   On the 10 

15t h of  Apri l  2014,  Liebherr t ransfers an amount of  

371 105,83 Dol lars.   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   I  am sorry.   I  am sorry.   

Mr Chaskalson,  d id you say I  must  go to page. . .   Oh,  you 

said 1103? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    1103 Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   I  th ink maybe i t  has been a long day.   

I  keep on somet imes going to at tend something when you 

say 11.   So.   [ laughs]   Okay let  me.. .   Yes,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And Mr Holden,  can you take us 20 

through this one?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So as I  was saying.   The f i rst  

amount Chai r  be ings wi th a payment f rom Liebherr into 

Accurate Investments’ Mashreq Bank,  US Dol lar account  and 

the total  of  that  payment is 371 105,83 Dol lars and that  is  
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t ransferred on the 15t h of  Apri l  2014.    

 Just  shy of  two weeks later,  13-days later on the 

28t h  of  Apri l  2014,  there is an amount of  375 000 Dol lars that  

is t ransferred f rom Accurate Mashreq bank account into 

Fidel i ty Enterpr ises,  Mashreq bank account.    

 Obviously,  the addi t ional  – I  th ink i t  is 3900 Dol lars 

making that  payment,  were funds already rest ing in the 

Accurate account at  that  point .   And f inal ly to complete th is.    

 On the 29t h of  Apri l  2014,  an amount of  400 000 Dol lars 

is t ransferred f rom Fidel i ty Mashreq Bank account into 10 

Oakbay’s accounts of  which 371 000 Dol lars emanated f rom 

Liebherr.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So once again,  a payment in 

respect  of  a Transnet t rains cont ract  is made offshore and 

lands in a South Afr ican Gupta Enterpr ise company.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can we go to 1104 and the fourth 

payment?  

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can you start  wi th the money that  20 

comes in f rom Liebherr?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So the way I  have organised this  

part icular payment.   Rather than a payment,  i t  is a payment  

t ranche.   And the reason I  have organised i t  in th is  way is 

because al l  of  these funds are used to the same purpose,  
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eventual ly.    

 So i t  begins wi th  Chai r  at  the top r ight  hand corner.   

L iebherr makes three d i fferent  t ransfers into Accurate’s  

Mashreq US Dol lar account on the 7t h of  May 2014.  That  is  

for 405 598,52.    

 On the 19t h of  May 2014, 402 879,34 Dol lars is paid into 

Accurate Mashreq.   And then f inal ly  on the 26t h of  May 2014, 

296 890.30 Dol lars is paid in  Accurate’s Mashreq account.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can you give the Chair  the 

sum of  those three payments?  You have used i t  low down in  10 

your diagram .  

MR HOLDEN :    Yes.   [ laughs]   I  was hoping you wi l l  not  ask 

me to do i t  in  my head.  The tota l  amounts of  those 

payments is 1 105 368,16 Dol lars.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And that  – those payments into 

Accurate ’s Mashreq account are comingled wi th  other  

payments.   Can you ident i fy or  can you descr ibe the 

movement of  the other payments that  come into Accurate?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   We have two st reams.  On 

the top lef t  here,  we have a payment of  roughly 4.5 mi l l ion 20 

Dol lars that  is pa id into an account of  Rel iable.    

 And Rel iable is  another Gupta enterpr ise company.   

Mashreq Bank,  US Dol lar account.   JJT Fourth Exum.   

 I t  is a l i t t le bi t  d i f f icul t  to discern exact ly what company 

they refer to but  we can very safely assume i t  is JJ Trading 
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or one of  i ts subsidiar ies.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And for  where did most  of  JJ 

Trading’s payments into the Gupta companies der ive f rom?  

MR HOLDEN :    They der ived f rom payments relate to the 

Transnet cont racts.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Sorry,  which Transnet  contracts?  

MR HOLDEN :    I t  is the,  1064 cont ract .   And. . .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    I t  is the locomot ives contract  and I  

th ink there is another contract  that  i t  may be as wel l .  

MR HOLDEN :    I  would rather not  say r ight  now because 10 

there is a di fference between JJT and Cent ral  General  

Trading.   And I  would just  want to double check exact ly  

which. . .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Sure.   At  any rate.   We do know 

that  most  of  the money that  JJT receives and t ransfers into 

the Guptas comes f rom the locomot ives cont ract .  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is cont ract .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    From Rel iable,  Mashreq.   Where 

does that  money go?  

MR HOLDEN :    On the 12t h of  May 2014, 2.5 mi l l ion Dol lars 20 

is t ransferred into Global ’s Mashreq US Dol lar account.   And 

then thereaf ter,  on the 26t h of  May,  2.2 mi l l ion Dol lars is 

t ransferred f rom the Global  Mashreq US Dol lar account into 

Accurate Mashreq US Dol lar account.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And then i f  we can deal  wi th the 
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paral le l ’s st ream of  funds that  is going to end up Accurate 

Mashreq account.   

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   I  have indicated here mix sources 

including JJT Key Cent r ic on the far lef t  here.   When I  was 

compi l ing and I  was t ry ing to chase these funds,  there were 

qui te a large number of  payments that  are made into Global 

Mashreq’s Dirham account f rom var ious di fferent  sources of 

which JJT Cent r ic  is – was certainly  the largest  one.    

 I  have always interpreted JJT Centr ic to  potent ia l ly re fer  

to Cent r ic Genera l  Trading which was the s ister company of  10 

JJ Trading and which always received funds f rom the 

Transnet locomot ive cont racts.    

 So those are the sources over the course of  four days 

between the 11t h of  May 2014 and the 15t h of  May 2014 pay 

8.2 mi l l ion Di rham into Global  Mashreq’s Bank Di rham based 

account.    

 Those comingled are then t ransferred on the 

19t h  of  May 2014 at  an amount of  5 000 336  Di rham into 

Accurate ’s Mashreq Dirham based account.   And then 

t ransferred in two payments over to Accurate Mashreq’s US 20 

Dol lar account.    

 The f i rst  payment was on the 27t h of  May 2014 

equivalent  to 1.7 mi l l ion Dirham which is 462 710,94 Dol lars.   

And on the fol lowing day on the 28t h of  May,  we have 

4 545 800 Di rham which is  equivalent  to  1 237 289,06 
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Dol lars.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And then what happens to these 

accumulated funds in Accurate Mashreq’s account?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly  Chai r.   As soon as these funds are 

comingled into the Accurate account which effect ive ly acts 

as a piggybank to faci l i tate one further t ransfer.   On the 

28t h of  May 2014, 5 mi l l ion Dol lars is paid f rom Liebherr. . .    

 Oh,  sorry.   From Accurate Mashreq’s account into the 

account of  Brookf ie ld Consul tants which is a company based 

in the US, which as I  have noted before,  of  which 10 

1 105 386,16 Dol lars emanates f rom Liebherr.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can I  ask you now to turn to page 

213 of  Bundle 6 where you descr ibe who Brookf ie ld are.   

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    213? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    213 at  paragraph 114.  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   The tax record f i led in the 

US state of  Texas. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Just  hang on one second.  

MR HOLDEN :    Pardon me.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Hold on,  Mr Holden.   Let  me get  there.    

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  have found i t .   Yes? 

MR HOLDEN :    Thank you Chai r.   The tax records that  are 

f i led was in the US state of  Texas.   Show that  the di rectors 
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of  – or the individuals who s igned tax return ment ioned on 

behal f  of  Brookf ie ld in the US are Ashish and Amal Gupta 

who are relat ives of  the Gupta brothers.    

 I  do indicate here that  there is an Annexure S of  that  

tax.   That  is al l  of  the annexures that  appears not  to be 

included in the bundle which we wi l l  need to resolve over the 

weekend.   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Thank you.   But  can I  ask you to  

go to Annexure T which is an emai l  in relat ion to th is 

payment?  I t  is at  page 477.  10 

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can you descr ibe to the Chai r  

what th is annexure is?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   What we have here is an 

emai l  f rom Tony or  Rajesh Gupta f rom his Sahara account  

that  is sent  on Wednesday the 7t h of  May 2014.   

 And i t  is sent  to Ronica Ragavan’s Oakbay emai l  

address and to AJ Gupta’s – I  th ink i t  is a Sahara address.   

And the subject  is :   Forward info.    

 And the body of  the text  indicates that  Tony Gupta was 20 

forwarding on a message that  have or ig inal ly been sent  f rom 

Ramesh Gupta at  the address rgupta6666@yahoo.com which 

he had or ig inal ly  sent  two days before on the 5 t h  of  May to 

Tony Gupta and to Ashu Chawla.    

 And what i t  is provides is a – a bunch of  informat ion for 
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procure consul tants so that  the amounts can be t ransferred 

across to the consul tants in the US. 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can I  ask you to go to the 

bot tom of  the page where you wi l l  see the emai l  that  Ramesh 

Gupta. . .   That  Tony emai led f rom Ramesh Gupta which is  

how he descr ibes the money that  is going to be paid.  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So preceding that  emai l  chain.   

Ramesh Gupta wri tes to  an indiv idual  by the name of  Ken 

Haas.   I  am af raid I  have not  been able to ident i fy who 

exact ly that  i t  is.   But  the emai l  reads:  10 

“Ken, please send informat ion for the money 

t ransfer f rom South Af r ica to Brookf ie ld,  same ent i ty  

as i t  went  f rom which should include bank deta i ls  

and t ransfer instruct ions. ”  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So the Gupta relat ive in Amer ica 

understood that  th is money that  he was going to receive 

came from South Af r ica.   And of  course,  he was r ight  

because i t  came u l t imately f rom Transnet.    

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So even though this. . .   Wel l ,  th is  20 

is a payment made in respect  of  a Transnet cont ract  but  

ends up not  in South Afr ica but  a t  a Gupta relat ive in the 

Uni ted States.  

MR HOLDEN :    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can we go to page 1105 where we 
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look at  the f i f th t ranche?  And can you descr ibe to  the Chai r  

what you see there?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   Sadly,  th is was the f inal  

t ranche in relat ion to Liebherr that  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   You said we should go to what  

page Mr Chaskalson? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Chai r,  i t  is 1105.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Bundle 6.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  Yes,  thank you.    10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :   Yes,  I  am ready.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Mr Holden,  can you descr ibe what 

you see there?   

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   This is unfortunately a 

t ranche that  I  am not  able to complete the t racing on as at  

th is date,  the Gupta leak records,  the ledgers go dark for us.   

We have no longer. . .    

 We have no idea where the funds go to f rom there,  

al though i t  is a begin – a smal l  amount of  the t racing.   So i t  20 

begins on the 9 t h of  October 2014.    

 F lowing f rom Liebherr into Accurate Standard Chartered 

bank account in US Dol lars for 368 110.   And that  amount is  

dissipated pret ty quickly.   On the. . .   Apologies,  I  am get t ing 

ahead of  mysel f  here.    
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 The second t ransfer in f rom Liebherr is made on the 

1s t  of  December 2014 and that  was for  278 840 Dol lars and i t  

is again paid into Accurate Standard Chartered bank 

account.    

 And then,  th is essent ia l ly spl i ts into two st reams that  we 

can t race.   F i rst ,  coming off  the lef t  of  Accurate Standard 

Chartered bank account.   We have two t ransfers.    

 One made on the 9 t h of  December 2014 for  20 000 

Dol lars and that  goes into Fidel i ty Enterpr ises’ Mashreq 

Bank US Dol lar account.    10 

 And on the 10t h of  December,  so the fol lowing day,  a 

further 20 000 Dol lars is  t ransferred f rom Accurate Standard 

Chartered bank account into Fidel i ty Enterpr ises’ Mashreq 

Bank US Dol lar account.   And then . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So the one. . .   There are two which were 

effected on the same date.   Is that  r ight? 

MR HOLDEN :    There is two. . .   There is on that  is made on 

the 9 t h Chai r  and one that  is made on the 10t h both for 

20 000.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  I  thought you had talked about two 20 

which were made on the 10t h and I  thought you had said 

20 000 in regard to – what seems to be 200 000.  

MR HOLDEN :    Okay.   [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   You were not  there yet .  

MR HOLDEN :    Yes,  I  am not  there yet .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.  

MR HOLDEN :    I  am st i l l  – there I  am st i l l  busy addressing 

the lef t -hand side.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR HOLDEN :    And then returning to the r ight -hand side.   As 

the Chair  has correct ly  ident i f ied on the 

10t h  of  December 2014, 200 000 is t ransferred f rom Accurate 

Standard Chartered bank account  into Global ’s Bank of  

Baroda US Dol lar account where i t  comingles wi th other 

funds   10 

 And on the 11 t h of  December 2014,  243 000 is 

t ransferred f rom Global ’s Bank of  Baroda US Dol lar  account  

into Fidel i ty Bank of  Baroda US Dol lar account.    

 And unfortunately,  at  that  point ,  our  records go dark and 

we cannot t rance i t  any further.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Now,  we have seen f ive t ranches 

of  payment f rom Liebherr.   They al l  end up or ei ther  end up 

in Gupta companies in South Af r ica or in the Uni ted States 

and the last  one has not  lef t  the Gupta company in  Dubai  at 

the point  of  which we lose sight  of  i t .   Can you tel l  the Chai r  20 

what other act iv i ty,  i f  any,  was taking place in the Accurate 

account over these per iods?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly  Chai r.   The Accurate account  is  

re lat ively inact ive.   What we do see is a large number of  

t ransfers into and out  of  the account f rom other  Gupta 
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enterpr ise companies.    

 For 2013,  the only payment into Accurate Investments 

account that  we see f rom outside of  the Gupta enterpr ise,  is 

f rom Liebherr.    

 In 2014,  we see Liebherr  again as a payee into those 

accounts.   And one other payee by the name of  VK Trading,  

Hong Kong   

 Unfortunately,  I  have not  been able to determine exact ly  

who that  is.   But  what is very notable is that  there are no 

expenses coming out  of  that  account.    10 

 There is no payment of  salar ies.   There is no payment of  

off ice costs.   There is no payment of  any sort  of  physical  

inf rast ructure at  a l l .    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And maybe in that  regard,  can I  

ask you and the Chair  to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   I  am sorry.   Much earl ier,  

other than the movement of  what  you ident i f ied as money 

f rom Transnet,  was there much act iv i ty in rela t ion to  

Accurate,  showing that  they were a company that  was real ly 

operat ional ,  other  than just  being used for  money 20 

laundering?  

MR HOLDEN :    Yes,  we do have certain records.   Obviously,  

our records for Accurate only begin at  the beginning of  

20143 f rom the Gupta leaks.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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MR HOLDEN :    But  pr ior to the Liebherr deposi ts,  again,  we 

see no act iv i ty that  would indicate . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR HOLDEN :    . . .a funct ioning company that  would 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR HOLDEN :    . . . that  has staff  for or a physical  premise.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay al r ight .   Thank you.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    I f  th is t ranche,  the f i f th t ranche. . .   

Okay there was a further point  that  I  wanted to make in  10 

re lat ion to i t .   The point  at  which the t r ia l  goes cold for you,  

is a  at  a  point  at  which al l  of  those funds have ended up in 

Fidel i ty accounts.   Is that  correct?  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can I  ask you to go to – and i t  is 

in December 2014 that  the t r ia l  goes cold.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can I  ask you to go to  Flow of  

Funds,  Bundle 5,  page 636?  

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    What is the page number again?  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    636 Chair.  

CHAIRPERSON :    636.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    This is the Reserve Bank’s 

spreadsheet record of  cross-border t ransact ions of  Fidel i ty  
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and can I  ask you to look at  that  cross-border t ransact ion on 

the 5t h of  January 2015?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    What do you see there? 

MR HOLDEN:    H’m . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Sorry,  Chai r.   Are you at  that  

page? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes,  yes.  

MR HOLDEN :    Chai r,  what I  see here is a payment in,  on 

the 5 t h of  January 2015 into the Oakbay Investment ’s  10 

account.   And on the fol lowing page, on 672 under the 

heading:   Non-res ident  surname.. . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   At  636,  you say the 

5t h of  January 2015? 

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is the fourth or f i f th  i tem f rom the top 

r ight? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    In fact ,  make a note that  i t  is the 20 

fourth i tem from the top because that  how we wi l l  fo l low i t  

across the next  pages.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Because this is one long one.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Ja,  just . . .   Mr Holden,  just  ment ion 
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the point  you make about that  i tem.  Just  repeat  the point  

you were making.  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So on the 5 t h of  January,  we see a 

f low in that  is paid into Oakbay Investment ’s account  and the 

re levant  column,  which is the second last  column on the 

spreadsheet,  there would be the CIPC regist rat ion number 

for Oakbay Investments.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR HOLDEN :    And on the fol lowing page, again you have to 

t race the fourth entry because these are supposed to be 10 

read next  to each other,  rather than one af ter each other.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR HOLDEN :    We see that  the registered address is given 

us Oakbay Investments registered address.   And the payee 

under the non-res ident ’s surname entry is giv ing us Fidel i ty  

Enterpr ises.   And then f inal ly,  the Rand amount is g iven as 

R 23 430 328,54.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Now on page 367,  I  have not  

ident i f ied.   Just  te l l  me where I  see the relevant  i tems? 

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   I t  is the fourth entry down. 20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Fourth entry f rom the bot tom of  the page? 

MR HOLDEN :    No,  f rom the top of  the page.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  the top of  the page.  

MR HOLDEN :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is Oakbay,  yes.    
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MR HOLDEN :    And i f  you fol low i t  to the r ight ,  we wi l l  see 

the non-resident  surname as Fidel i ty Enterpr ises.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  that  is the 23 mi l l ion.  

MR HOLDEN :    23 430 328,  54.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.  

MR HOLDEN :    And so we have to go again over to  the next  

page.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR HOLDEN :    And i f  you look at  the fourth ent ry down 

again,  th is is a  f low of  funds number 5,  page 638.   We have 10 

four ent r ies down, an amount of  the US Dol lar amount is  

1.999970 mi l l ion Dol lars.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    No,  I  am must actual ly stop at  that  

point .   I  cannot take the further point  that  I  was hoping I  

would be able to make.  The – can I  ask you to go to  Volume 

50.   I  am taking you out  of  your – the topic which you were 

addressing which is movement on the Accurate accounts 

because Accurate was the party paid by Liebherr.   Can I  ask 

you to go to page 113 of  Bundle 5?  20 

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can you tel l  the Chai r  what 

we are looking at  here?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   This was – because i t  is 

Annexure A to my Est ina report .   This is the spreadsheet that  
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I  put  together by scraping or co l lat ing al l  the entr ies,  the 

funds f low ent r ies.   I  then creat ing a running balance to the 

r ight  of  that .   And then organising that  by company which I  

have now also put  on screen because the pr inted vers ion is 

incredible di ff icul t  to read.    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And do you see any receipts by 

Accurate,  when revenue is coming into Accurate or  in th is 

per iod of  1 March 2013 to 26 February 2014.   They do not  

come ei ther f rom the Gupta company or f rom Liebherr.    

MR HOLDEN :    On th is spreadsheet.   No,  Chai r.  10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    I  suppose in fa i rness to Liebherr,  

we should point  out  that  on the 12t h of  January 2014,  there 

was a cash deposi t  of  10 000. . .   Oh, but  that  goes out .   

Sorry.   Can I  ask whether  you see any payments out  to any 

ent i ty other than the Gupta ent i ty? 

MR HOLDEN :    I  do not .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And that  is for  a per iod. . .   That  is 

for a calendar year?  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Thanks.   Has Liebherr ever  t r ied 20 

to explain these payments?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   They issued one statement in  

October 2017 which I  am sure we wi l l  turn to short ly.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Yes,  le t  us turn then now.  I t  is 

page one. . .   Wel l ,  can you conf i rm that  what we see at  1099 
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in Bundle 6 is a Liebherr statement?  

MR HOLDEN :    Correct  Chai r,  that  is Liebherr ’s statement.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  thought you said 109 at  – of  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    1099 of  Bundle 6 Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  1099? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    That  is correct .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay let  me get  there.   Okay,  okay.   Yes? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can I  ask you to read Liebherr ’s 

explanat ion for these payments in the statement? 10 

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   So as context ,  L iebherr issued the 

statement in response to a media art ic le  that  was publ ished 

by AmaBhungane, which is an invest igat ive – a group of  

invest igat ive journal ists who do excel lent  work,  who 

indicated that  based on the Gupta leaks that  Liebherr had 

been paying money to the Gupta enterpr ise companies.   I  

wi l l  resume from paragraph 3 of  that  statement i f  that  makes 

sense? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Wel l ,  maybe we should start  f rom 

paragraph 1.   So.  20 

MR HOLDEN :    Okay.   I t  says:  

“ In an art ic le publ ished on July 2017,  a group of  

invest igat ive South Afr ican journal ists,  

AmaBhungane, ment ioned Liebherr Containers 

Crane Limited based in Ki l larney,  I re land in the 
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context  of  an al leged kickback scheme, who supply 

contracts for  Transnet and involving the sales agent,  

Accurate Investments Limited.  

Liebherr  considered these al legat ions as very 

ser ious.   The business pract ice as descr ibed in the 

art ic le are unacceptable to us.  

The commitment to integr i ty of  conduct  and a fai r  

compet i t ion in the market  across the world,  is part  

of  our core values.  

In accordance with group pol ic ies,  the ul t imate 10 

holding company of  the L iebherr  Group,  Liebherr  

Internat ional  AG,  therefore,  conducted an internal  

invest igat ion into the matter.  

The resul t  of  th is invest igat ion showed that  the 

t ransact ions under invest igat ion wi l l  legal ly  sound 

and not  in violat ion of  any appl icable law or  

regulat ions on the part  of  L iebherr ent i t ies and 

employees involved.  

The select ion of  a sales agent such as Accurate 

Investments Limited to provide interface services to  20 

the end-user  dur ing the tender,  procurement and 

supply process is  a pract ice which is common in a 

sales process for capi ta l  expendi ture projects.  

I t  is also common that  such a sales agent receives a 

nominal  commission for the services provided in the 
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event  of  the tender,  procurement and supply process 

is successfu l ly completed.”  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Stop. . .   Can I  just  stop you there?  

I  th ink you have al ready ment ioned the amount of  the 

nominal  commission that  Accurate received in th is case.   

Can you just  ref resh our memory i f  you t ranslate i t  or  give a 

Dol lar amount and then t ranslate i t  into Rands?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   The total  amount that  we 

can t rack f rom Liebherr into Accurate Investments is 

3 232 430,88 Dol lars which is equal  to R 49 381 200,07 at  10 

today’s exchange rate.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And that  nominal  commission,  of  

course,  is only what you can see,  not  what you note to be 

the total  of  what L iebherr paid Accurate.  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can you cont inue wi th the 

Liebherr ’s statement?  

MR HOLDEN :    Yes.  

“ In  the case in  quest ion,  Accurate Investments 

Limited was the sales representat ive selected by 20 

Liebherr Container Cranes L imited.  

As requi red by the groups due di l igent  process,  

Liebherr  Container  Cranes Limited performed 

background checks pr ior to enter ing into the agency 

agreement wi th Accurate Investment Limited.  



04 DECEMBER 2020 – DAY 318 
 

Page 123 of 130 
 

These background checks did not  indicate any 

malpract ice on the part  of  Accurate Investments 

Limited.  

The internal  invest igat ion d id observe,  however,  that  

the group’s def ined due di l igence process might  

have been implemented in a more str ingent  manner 

in th is case,  by pushing the performance 

background checks to an even higher level  than the 

ones actual ly performed.  

Being aware of  the increased r isks associated when 10 

agents are included in any type of  t ransact ion,  the 

group company’s management and employees must  

st r ive to ensure that  the group’s standard of  scrut iny 

and di l igence are compl ied wi th in day-to-day 

business. ”  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    I  see.   Have you ever  t r ied to 

engage with Liebherr over th is qui te ext raord inary 

explanat ion in re lat ion to the kickbacks that  they paid to  

Accurate Investments?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   Pr ior to my submission that  20 

I  made regarding Transnet and this f low of  funds,  I  thought  i t  

appropriate for –  to approach Liebherr again a number of  

years later to ask them detai led quest ions about th is  

contract  and to get  thei r  response.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can I  ask you to turn to page 
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1107?  

MR HOLDEN :    [No audible reply]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can you tel l  us what you see 

there?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly Chai r.   We see an emai l  that  was 

sent  f rom my emai l  address to  three individuals at  Liebherr.  

The f i rst  is phi l ipherth@liebherr.com.   

 The second is sandradiel la@l iebherr.com.  The thi rd  is 

barennicknortman@liebherr.com.  And the emai l  was sent  on 

Wednesday,  August  the 12t h,  2020.    10 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And can you. . .   Wel l ,  I  th ink,  can 

you read your emai l  to Liebherr and the quest ions you asked 

them?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly.   I  say:  

“Hel lo.   My name is Paul  Holden.   I  am current ly the 

Di rector of  Invest igat ions at  Shadow World 

Invest igat ions. . . ”  

 And I  provide our EUL(?) address SWI.    

“SWI intends to  publ ish a lengthy report  on the 

capture of  a South Afr ican rai lway faci l i ty,  Transnet  20 

by the Gupta fami ly and thei r  extended network.  

This report  includes a discussion of  the cont ract  

entered into between Liebherr Container Cranes 

Limited and Accurate Investments.  

The lat ter now is wel l -establ ished as a fund 
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u l t imately control led by the Gupta fami ly.  

Using internal  account ing records,  our report  wi l l  

t race how the funds paid to Accurate Investments by 

Liebherr were used by Accurate Investments.  

This process has revealed that  the funds paid by 

Liebherr  to Accurate were almost  always 

immediately dissipated into other accounts 

control led by the Guptas and ul t imately used to pay 

for services del ivered to the Gupta fami ly.  

This includes,  for  example,  using Liebherr funds to 10 

hi re  actors and musicians to  per form at  the now 

notor ious Sun City wedding of  Vega Gupta.  

Pr ior to  publ ishing our report ,  I  was hoping that  

Liebherr would be wi l l ing to answer the fol lowing 

quest ions which I  provide hereunder.  

We wi l l  include your responses in  our f inal  report  

and any addi t ional  media coverage that  f lows f rom 

our f indings.  

I  would appreciate a response by the end of  the 

business day,  Fr iday,  the 14t h of  August . ”  20 

 And here,  I  delve into the quest ions.   I  say:    

“Quest ion 1:  

On the 16t h of  October 2017,  Liebherr issued a 

press statement regarding al legat ions of  k ickbacks 

paid to assist  L iebherr Af r ica to secure contracts for  
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the supply of  cranes to  Transnet.  

The statement indicated that  Liebherr had found no 

evidence of  wrongdoing af ter an internal  

invest igat ion.  

Do you wish to  add any further  informat ion to th is 

statement or any further clar i f icat ion?” 

 At  Quest ion 2,  I  say:  

“ In the same statement,  you clar i f ied that  Liebherr  

Conta iner Cranes Limited entered into a sales 

agreement wi th Accurate Investments.  10 

In th is regard:  

2(a)  What services did Accurate Investments 

provide? 

2(b)  On what date was the agreement wi th  

Accurate Investments entered into? 

2(c)  What was the total  value of  payments made 

under the terms of  th is sales agreement and the last  

payment was made and when was the agreement  

said to terminate? 

2(d)  Who signed the sales agreement on behal f  of  20 

Accurate Investments?  Who else f rom Accurate 

Investments was Liebherr  in  contact  wi th regarding 

this cont ract  and i ts fu l f i lment? 

2(e)  Who signed the sales agreement on behal f  of  

L iebherr Cranes?” 
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 Quest ion 3:  

“Accurate Investments is a Dubai  invest  ent i ty  wi th  a 

sole Ind ian di rector,  Sanjay Grover,  who had no 

notable connect ions to South Afr ica.  

The company has no onl ine presence or  

inf rast ructure.  

Wel l ,  the on the ground invest igat ions suggests that  

they have no physical  off ice.    

What possible interface services could this company 

have provided to Liebherr Cranes? 10 

Considerable evidence has emerged, showing that  

Accurate Investments was control led by the Gupta 

fami ly and formed one of  a number offshore ent i t ies 

based in  Dubai ,  used by the fami ly to receive and 

launder and dissipate funds.”  

 And I  then l inked to an art ic le which descr ibes that  

process.   And I  ask:  

“Would you care to comment?”  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Quest ions 5 and 6 relate to other  

matters that  we may address at  another t ime in the 20 

Commission but  are not  relevant  to evidence today.  

MR HOLDEN :    Okay.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Did Liebherr respond?  

MR HOLDEN :    Certainly they responded the fol lowing week 

on Wednesday,  the 19t h of  August  2020.   They wrote back to 
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me.   The individual  who wrote back was 

phi l ipherth@liebherr.com.  And they responded:  

“Dear Mr Holden.   Thank you very much for your  

message . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Sorry.   Are you reading now f rom 

page 1108?  

MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct .  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    1108.    

MR HOLDEN :    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Yes.  10 

MR HOLDEN :    Yes.  

“Dear Mr Holden.   Thank you very much for your  

message.  In 2017,  we conducted an internal  

invest igat ion into the role of  Liebherr Container  

Cranes Limited based in  Ki l larney,  I re land in the 

context  of  the processes you ment ioned.  

In doing so,  we took into account al l  the informat ion 

avai lab le to us.  

In the publ ic statement on October 13t h of  the same 

year,  we made avai lable the resul ts  of  th is  20 

invest igat ion.  

Please f ind the or ig inal  statement  at tached to our  

emai l . ”  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Can I  s top you there?  Was that  

the statement that  we read a short  whi le ago?  
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MR HOLDEN :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

“With the complet ion of  the invest igat ion report  and 

the publ icat ion of  the resul ts,  we considered the 

case to be concluded for us.  

We ask for your understanding in th is regard.”  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]   Did you give them the 

understanding?   

MR HOLDEN :    [ laughs]    

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And did you understand?  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]    

MR HOLDEN :    I  understood but  I  d id not  agree.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]    

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Chai r,  that  concludes Mr Holden’s 

evidence on Liebherr.   I  am hoping that  i t  does not  conclude 

the Commission’s ev idence on Liebherr.   We are now about  

to move to the Transnet ’s side of  the report  and that  is qui te  

a detai led int roductory leading to set  the scene.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    So wi th  your  permission Chai r,  I  20 

would ask that  we adjourn at  th is po int .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    And pick that  up on Monday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay alr ight .   So we wi l l  cont inue 

on. . .   We wi l l  have an evening session on Monday.   That  is 
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when Mr Holden wi l l  cont inue,  r ight? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Sorry,  Chai r.   At  what t ime should 

Mr Holden make h imsel f  avai lable on Monday?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink maybe he should be here at  f ive.   I  

th ink that  is safe,  f ive o’clock.  

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  ja.   Okay thank you very much.   Thank 

you very much Mr Holden.   But  you wi l l  be back on Monday.   

Thank you very much.  We wi l l  adjourn for the day.    

 And then,  next  week dur ing the day,  I  wi l l  hear evidence 10 

re lat ing to Eskom and then in the evenings I  wi l l  hear  

evidence relat ing to money f lows.   Okay al r ight .   I t  wi l l  be 

money f lows throughout Mr Chaskalson or there would be 

others that  are not  money f lows? 

ADV CHASKALSON SC :    There wi l l  be wi tnesses f rom 

Mackenzie coming on Wednesday and Thursday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  i t  is Wednesday and Thursday.   Okay,  

okay,  al r ight .   We wi l l  adjourn for the day.   Thank you.   We 

adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 7 DECEMBER 2020  20 

  


